Investigation of geometrical, clinical uncertainty and dosimetric studies in 3D interstitial brachytherapy of radical breast implants

By **RITU RAJ UPRETI HLTH 09 2011 04 001**

Tata Memorial Centre, Mumbai

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Health Sciences

In partial fulfillment of requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

of

HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



August, 2018

Homi Bhabha National Institute¹

Recommendations of the Viva Voce Committee

As members of the Viva Voce Committee, we certify that we have read the dissertation prepared by Ritu Raj Upreti entitled "Investigation of geometrical, clinical uncertainty and dosimetric studies in 3D interstitial brachytherapy of radical breast implants" and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement for the award of Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chairman -	Prof. J. P. Agarwal	Date:
Guide / Convener -	Prof. D. D. Deshpande	Date:
Examiner -	Prof. Lalit M. Aggarwal	Date:
Member 1-	Prof. Rajiv Sarin	Date:
Member 2-	Dr. T. Palani Selvam	Date:
Member 3-	Dr. S. D. Sharma	Date:

Final approval and acceptance of this thesis is contingent upon the candidate's submission of the final copies of the thesis to HBNI.

I/We hereby certify that I/we have read this thesis prepared under my/our direction and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement.

Date:

Place: Mumbai

Signature Guide

¹ This page is to be included only for final submission after successful completion of viva voce.

STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for an advanced degree at Homi Bhabha National Institute (HBNI) and is deposited in the Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the HBNI.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Competent Authority of HBNI when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interests of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Ritu Raj Upreti

DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree / diploma at this or any other Institution / University.

Ritu Raj Upreti

Annexure 1

CERTIFICATION ON ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

- I Shri Ritu Raj Upreti, HBNI Enrolment No. HLTH09201104001 hereby undertake that, the Thesis titled "Investigation of geometrical, clinical uncertainty and dosimetric studies in 3D interstitial brachytherapy of radical breast implants." is prepared by me and is the original work undertaken by me and free of any plagiarism. That the document has been duly checked through a plagiarism detection tool and the document is plagiarism free.
- 2. I am aware and undertake that if plagiarism is detected in my thesis at any stage in future, suitable penalty will be imposed as per the applicable guidelines of the Institute/UGC.

(Shri Ritu Raj Upreti) Signature of the Student (with date)

Endorsed by the PhD Supervisor (I certify that the work done by the Researcher is plagiarism free)

Signature:

Name: Dr. D.D. Deshpande Designation: Professor HBNI; Department/Centre: Medical Physics/Tata Memorial Hospital Name of the CI/OCC: Tata Memorial Centre

List of Publications arising from the thesis

Journal

- "Interobserver variation of target volume delineation and its impact on irradiated volume in accelerated partial breast irradiation with intraoperative breast implant". Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Wadasadawala T, Misra S, Gurram L, Pathak R, Deshpande D D. Journal of Contemporary Brachytherapy. 2017; 9(2): 139-145.
- "Change of target volume and its dosimetric impact during the course of accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery".
 Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, Misra S, Wadasadawala T, Kohle S, Deshpande D D. Brachytherapy. 2017; 16(5):1027-1034.
- 3. "Impact of inter-observer variations in target volume delineation on dose volume indices for accelerated partial breast irradiation with multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy". Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, Wadasadawala T, Misra S, Gurram L, Pathak R, Deshpande D D. Radiotherapy and Oncology. 2018; 129:173-179.

Conferences

1. Interobserver variation in delineating lumpectomy cavity and CTV for patient undergoing APBI using intraoperative implant and its impact

on implant dosimetry. **Upreti RR**, Budrukkar A, Wadasadawala T, Misra S, Gurram L, Pathak R, Deshpande D D. Physica Medica, 2016; Volume 32, S3, 264. European Congress of Medical Physics (ECMP 2016) at Athens, Greece - Oral presentation.

"Interfraction variation in the target volume for accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy and its dosimetric impact". Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, Misra S, Wadasadawala T, Deshpande D D. International conference on advances in radiation oncology (ICARO2), 20th - 23rd June 2017, IAEA, Vienna (Austria) – Oral presentation

Others publications of the student in Refereed Journals related to present work

- "Impact of adjuvant systemic chemotherapy on wound healing and cosmetic outcome in 224 women treated with accelerated partial breast irradiation using interstitial brachytherapy. Brachytherapy". Budrukkar A, Pandit P, Wadasadawala T, Upreti RR, Jalali R, Gupta S, Shet T, Parmar V, Badwe R, Sarin R. 2017;16(5):935-942.
- "Clinical outcomes of prospectively treated 140 women with early stage breast cancer using accelerated partial breast irradiation with 3 dimensional computerized tomography based brachytherapy".

Budrukkar A, Gurram L, **Upreti RR**, Munshi A, Jalali R, Badwe R, Parmar V, Shet T, Gupta S, Wadasadawala T, Sarin R. Radiother Oncol. 2015; 115(3):349-54.

3. "Fat necrosis in women with early-stage breast cancer treated with accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using interstitial brachytherapy". Budrukkar A, Jagtap V, Kembhavi S, Munshi A, Jalali R, Seth T, Parmar V, Upreti RR, Badwe R, Sarin R. Radiother Oncol. 2012; 103 (2):161-5.

Ritu Raj Upreti

DEDICATIONS

My family, friends, colleagues and all well wishers

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my PhD Guide Dr D. D. Deshpande, Professor, Medical Physics, Homi Bhabha National Institute and Ex Head, Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Hospital, for his valuable guidance and consistent support throughout my research work.

I take immense pleasure to thank my doctoral committee members, Dr J. P. Agarwal, Dr R. Sarin, Dr T. Palani Selvam, Dr S. D. Sharma and Dr S. K. Shrivastava for their comments and suggestions during the progress of the work.

I would like to express my special thanks to Dr Ashwini Budrukkar for her consistent support and suggestions. I would also like to thank to my all co-authors, Dr Tabassum Wadasadawala, Dr. Shagun Misra, Dr Lavanya Gurrum and Dr Rima Pathak for their remarkable contributions and suggestions to improve the quality of research work.

I would like to thank Shri C. M. Tambe and Shri Satish Kohle for their contribution in the work. I acknowledge with sincere thanks to Shri Chandrakant Panchal, from Engineering Department of ACTREC for his dedicated contribution in the fabrication of phantom. I would like to express my thanks to Mrs. Udita Upreti for her contribution and carrying out large data extraction and evaluations.

I would like to thank Dr R.A. Kinhikar, Professor and Head and my all colleagues in the Department of Medical Physics at TMH and ACTREC for helping me directly and indirectly during my research work.

I am grateful to my family, parents, in-laws, colleagues and friends for their consistent support during this research work.

Ritu Raj Upreti

CONTENTS

		Page No.
ABSTRACT		1
SYNOPSIS		2
LIST OF FIGU	RES	12
LIST OF TABL	ES	14
GLOSSARY		16
CHAPTER 1	Introduction	18
	1.1 Treatment of breast cancer:	19
	1.2 Rationale for Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation (APBI):	20
	1.3 Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation Techniques	21
	1.4. Transition from conventional radiograph based to 3D CT based MIB dosimetry	30
	1.5 Review of uncertainties in brachytherapy	31
	1.6. Aims/Objective of the work undertaken for the thesis	34
CHAPTER 2	Geometrical uncertainties: Reconstruction	35
	errors	
	2.1 Introduction	36
	2.2 Materials and methods	37
	2.2.1 Design and fabrication of indigenous phantom	37
	2.2.2 Acquisition of CT scan	37
	2.2.3 Reconstruction of the catheters	39
	2.2.4 Coordinate transformation	40
	2.2.5 Analysis	41

	2.2.6. Statistics	42
	2.3 Results:	42
	2.4 Discussions	49
	2.5 Conclusion	52
CHAPTER 3	Inter-observer variation in target volume	53
	delineation	
	3.1. Introduction	54
	3.2. Purpose	54
	3.3. Materials and methods:	55
	3.3.1. Patient Selection and Implant Technique	55
	3.3.2. Imaging:	56
	3.3.3. Cavity Visualization	56
	3.3.4. Delineation and treatment planning	56
	3.3.5. Analysis:	57
	3.3.6. Statistics:	59
	3.4 Results:	61
	3.4.1. Cavity visualization:	61
	3.4.2. Contoured volumes:	61
	3.4.3. Cavity visualization index and volumes:	62
	3.5. Discussions:	64
	3.6 Conclusion	67
CHAPTER 4	Dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in target volume delineation	68
	4.1. Introduction	69
	4.2. Materials and methods	69
	4.2.1. Patient Selection and Imaging	69

	4.2.2. Delineation and treatment planning:	70
	4.2.3. Analysis:	71
	4.2.4. Statistics	73
	4.3. Results:	73
	4.3.1. Impact of inter-observer variation on source loading	73
	4.3.2. Impact on geometrically optimized plans	73
	4.3.3. Impact of inter-observer variation on graphically optimized plans	74
	4.4 Discussions	91
	4.5 Conclusion	96
CHAPTER 5	Change in target volume during the course of	97
	brachytherapy treatment	
	5.1 Introduction	98
	5.2 Materials and methods	99
	5.2.1. Patient Selection and Implant Technique	99
	5.2.2. Planning and Dosimetry	99
	5.2.3 Plan evaluation and comparison	102
	5.2.4. Statistical analysis	102
	5.3. Results	102
	5.4. Discussion	108
	5.5 Conclusion	113
CHAPTER 6	Summary, conclusion and future directions	114
	6.1 Summary and Conclusion	115

REFRENCES	118
First page of published papers	139

Abstract:

Introduction of volumetric imaging in brachytherapy during the last decade witnessed the transition from conventional brachytherapy to CT based three dimensional (3D) conformal brachytherapy. Active source positions in the vicinity of the target volume, steep dose gradients and rapid dose fall off demands the overall accuracy in 3D conformal brachytherapy more stringent. Since brachytherapy is subject to various uncertainties, it is necessary to identify these uncertainties, their magnitude, and dosimetric impact for each treatment site and technique. Aim of this thesis was to investigate the uncertainties in CT image based 3D conformal interstitial breast partial breast brachytherapy implants, which have not been adequately addressed so far in the literature.

The major findings of this thesis are as follows:

The reconstruction n error leads to geometrical uncertainties, which can be reduced by selection of smaller slice thickness and increasing the implant orientation from imaging plane. Significant inter-observer variation in the target delineation was found, which was significantly related to visualization of lumpectomy cavity. Excellent visualization yielded smaller variability in the target delineation. Target delineation variability showed an impact on source position along catheters. Significant impact on dose volume indices, such as decrease in coverage and conformality was found due to inter-observer variation in target delineation. Post-operative changes during the immediate post-op period after lumpectomy and catheter placement resulted in the change of target volume during partial breast brachytherapy treatment. These changes were found patient specific and showed significant reduction in the dosimetric coverage and conformality of the target volume.

1

Synopsis:

Last decade witnessed transition from conventional brachytherapy to three dimensional (3D) conformal brachytherapy. Conventional treatment planning utilizes set of radiograph which lacks the 3D anatomical information and resulted in larger irradiated volume. The advantages of 3D brachytherapy is to deliver conformal dose to a three dimensional target volume defined on computed tomography (CT) images and to limit the doses to surrounding healthy tissues and organ at risk (OAR). Brachytherapy allows the escalation of radiation dose with high conformality as the radiation is delivered from the inside out with a sharp fall off dose to nearby tissues. Therefore errors are less forgiving and having greater impact in brachytherapy.

The process of brachytherapy is subject to uncertainties, which includes source calibration, imaging, contouring, catheter reconstruction, dose calculations, dose delivery and anatomical variations. Investigation of these uncertainties is essential, which need to be evaluated for each treatment site and treatment techniques to estimate their impact on delivered dose to the patient.

Review of literature revealed extensive studies addressing uncertainties mainly for gynaecological, prostate brachytherapy and balloon brachytherapy for accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI). There have been so far very limited data published for uncertainty related to 3D image based interstitial breast implants. Objectives of the work undertaken for the thesis is to investigate the uncertainties in CT image based 3D interstitial brachytherapy of multi catheter interstitial breast implants for APBI which are as follows:

- a) Reconstruction errors of the catheters for interstitial breast implant using indigenously designed breast phantom
- b) Inter-observer variation in the delineation of target volume
- c) Dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in target delineation
- d) Change in target volume during course of brachytherapy treatment

Chapter 1: Introduction and review of literature

This chapter introduces the various treatment modalities of breast cancer treatment, breast conservation therapy (BCT), rationale of partial breast irradiation and various accelerated partial breast techniques practiced worldwide. BCT is the preferred treatment for the early stage breast cancer. APBI is a technique which irradiates the lumpectomy bed with smaller margin, instead of whole breast. In APBI higher dose can be delivered in a shorter time due to limited volume of treatment. Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy for APBI is one of the established techniques with long term follow-up. Brachytherapy places radioactive sources either within tumor or in close contact with the tumor volume. Dosimetric outcome of conventional brachytherapy planning is being evaluated by visualizing the isodoses qualitatively in the orthogonal planes of implant geometry. Dosimetric system used for conventional planning lacks in providing 3D relationship between the isodose volume and the anatomical boundaries of the target due to use of orthogonal radiographs. Thus the clinical realistic evaluation of the dosimetric parameters was not possible with conventional brachytherapy planning. Transition from conventional brachytherapy to three dimensional (3D) conformal brachytherapy is being witnessed in last decade. The 3D brachytherapy delivers conformal dose to a three dimensional target volume defined on computed tomography (CT) images and limits the doses to surrounding healthy tissues and organ at risk (OAR).

Uncertainties in 3D image based external beam radiotherapy have been investigated in details and reported in literature. Uncertainties in brachytherapy were initially considered negligible based on the observation that the catheters; tumor and surrounding tissues represent a stable system. However, uncertainties in brachytherapy can lead to potential source of errors as the dose gradient is significant beyond the target volume. Review of literature revealed studies addressing the uncertainties in mainly for gynaecological and prostate brachytherapy. There have been so far very limited data published for uncertainty related to 3D image based brachytherapy using multi catheter interstitial breast implants. The work in this thesis is carried out to investigate the uncertainties in the CT image based multi-catheter interstitial breast brachytherapy (MIB).

Chapter 2: Geometrical uncertainties: Reconstruction errors:

Source localization accuracy during the CT based 3D brachytherapy treatment planning relies on the accuracy in the reconstruction of the catheters. A catheter reconstruction error in the 3D breast treatment planning is a source of uncertainty and depends on the thickness of acquired axial CT slice and the orientation of the catheters with respect to the imaging plane. Limited work is published demonstrating the reconstruction accuracy for a breast implant.

The indigenous 3D multi-slice breast phantom was designed and fabricated using PMMA sheets and implant geometry was simulated. To investigate the reconstruction errors due to rotation of implanted catheters with respect to imaging plane a rotating platform was fabricated. Phantom was scanned with various slice thickness (0.6 mm, 2.5 mm and 5.0 mm) and rotated to different angles (0^0 , 5^0 , 10^0 , 20^0 and 90^0). Minimum slice thickness (0.6 mm) with perpendicular orientation (90^0) from the scanning plane was taken as reference scan. Catheters were reconstructed and source was loaded to consistent dwell positions in all planning dataset. Source coordinates of reference scan was taken as reference for comparison. Coordinate transformation was performed to source coordinates for all other scans to reference scan and source coordinates was compared with the reference scan. The mean geometrical distance and standard deviation (SD) between corresponding source positions from reference data set was estimated for investigating reconstruction errors.

The mean geometrical distance and SD tends to decrease with increasing the angle between the imaging plane and catheter plane, however it increases with slice thickness. For 20^{0} angular orientations of implanted tubes from imaging plane and 0.6 mm slice thickness, the least reconstruction error (SD) of 0.3 mm was observed, however the largest error (SD) of 0.9 mm was observed for 5 mm slice thickness and parallel orientation of implant. The largest mean geometric distance of 1.7 mm between corresponding source position was observed for 5 mm slice thickness and parallel orientation. Smallest slice thickness found to have least uncertainties for all implant orientations.

Chapter 3: Inter-observer variation in target volume delineation

Delineation of the structures is the weakest link in the process of radiation therapy. Inaccuracy in the delineation may result in the geographic miss and excessive irradiation of surrounding normal tissues which may have an impact on clinical outcomes. This work was carried out to investigate inter-observer variation in target delineation in MIB for breast cancers.

To investigate inter-observer variability in target delineation, 20 retrospective patients having early breast cancer treated using partial breast brachytherpay were included for the study. Intra-operative placement of the flexible nylon catheters was performed immediately after breast conserving surgery using open cavity technique. Five radio-opaque markers were kept at the edges and the centre of lumpectomy cavity. Five radiation oncologists delineated the lumpectomy cavity (LC) and CTV on computed tomography (CT) scans. Delineation process was standardized and Cavity Visualization Index (CVI), was developed which ranges from (0 = poor) to (3 = excellent). Each patient was assigned CVI by all observers. Spatial concordance (CI_{common} and CI_{gen}), average shift in the center of mass (COM) and V_{max}/V_{min} of LC and CTV volumes were also computed.

The mean±SD CI_{common} and CI_{gen} for LC were 0.54 ± 0.09 and 0.74 ± 0.06 however respective values of CTV were 0.58 ± 0.08 and 0.76 ± 0.05 . Significant increase in Conformity Index (CI) and COM shift and decrease in V_{max}/V_{min} was observed with CVI. Cases having excellent visualization showed the least shift in median COM of LC and CTV. The mean relative SD (in %) of LC and CTV was 10.9% and 11.7% respectively. The study concluded a significant inter-observer variation in target delineation which was found larger for poorer visualized lumpectomy cavity.

Chapter 4: Dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in target volume deleneation

Delineation variability among observers is a potential source of uncertainty in radiotherapy. Target delineation variability likely to have a dosimetric impact as the rapid dose fall exists in 3D brachytherapy. Literature review revealed that there is no published data on the impact of inter-observer variability of target delineation on implant dosimetry for MIB of breast cancer.

CTV delineation in 20 breast cancer patients treated using MIB of breast was carried out by five radiation oncologists. Graphically optimized treatment plans were generated for CTV of all observes for each patient. Dosimetric evaluation was carried out using coverage index (CI), external volume index (EI), overdose volume index (OI) and conformal index (COIN). Evaluation of other dosimetric parameters was carried out. These parameters included variation in active source positions (with step size of 0.5 cm) for each catheter and volume of prescription dose (V₁₀₀). The CTV coverage with common (V_{100_common}) and paired (V_{100_pair}) volume of prescription dose. In addition, relative SD (SD/mean) of CI and COIN was also computed to estimate dosimetric uncertainty of inter-observer target delineations.

The maximum variations (ρ <0.05) of 10.6%,10.6%, 72.7% 11.4% was found in the mean CI, OI, EI and COIN respectively when a plan is optimized to a particular delineated CTV volume of an observer and then evaluated to all other volumes to analyze dosimetry. The mean (SD) of V₁₀₀ was 160.7 (52.1) cm³. The coverage of CTV with V_{100_common} and V_{100_pair} was found to be 73.1 (8.1) % and 77.9 (7.3) % respectively. The maximum mean relative SD (in %) of CI and COIN was 5.7% and 7.1% respectively. The finding of the work concluded a significant dosimetric impact of <12% in coverage and conformity of the target volume due to of inter-observer delineation variability. It was also observed that the prescribed dose to be increased to compensate the decline in target coverage due to inter-observer variation at the cost of DHI for CTV <180cm³.

Chapter 5: Change in target volume during course of brachytherapy treatment

Intra-operative placement of catheter after open cavity surgery for breast conservation therapy leads to seroma formation and regression during the immediate post-op period as the duration of interstitial implant in situ is generally 7 - 10 days and may cause the changes in the target volume during partial breast brachytherapy. This study was carried out to investigate the target volume variability during APBI with multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy.

The change in target volumes during partial breast brachytherapy treatment was evaluated in 22 patients by acquiring CT scans for planning (CT1) and prior to last fraction (CT2). The LC and CTV were delineated in both the CT datasets by a single observer Optimized treatment plan was P_{CT1} generated on CT1 for 3.4 Gy per fraction using Ir-192 HDR source. Total 10 fractions were delivered with two fractions daily. Median time between CT1 and CT2 was 9 days. The information regarding source active positions, each position dwell times along with source activity of the P_{CT1} were manually entered in the CT2 and named as P_{CT2} . Plans were compared using CI, DHI, EI, OI and COIN.

Nine patients showed increase in CTV volume by $\geq 10\%$ however decrease of $\geq 10\%$ was found in 5 patients. Mean absolute difference of 13.2 % in CTV was observed when analyzed pair wise for each cases. CI and COIN was found to be

decreased by 8.4% and 5.5% for those cases showed increase in CTV volume. Decrease in CTV showed significant decrease of 13.5% in COIN which was due to increase in EI by 45%. Overall 22 cases showed significant pair wise absolute difference of $7.0\pm4.5\%$ and $8.5\pm6.2\%$ in CI and COIN respectively. The work concluded that the changes in CTV volume during the partial breast brachytherapy is patient specific and need to be evaluated for every patient in the mid of the treatment.

Chapter 6: Summary, Conclusion and future directions:

6.1 Summary and Conclusion:

In this thesis the uncertainty for 3D conformal brachytherapy specific to multicatheter interstitial breast implants was investigated. The summary of the results is as follows:

The reconstruction errors lead to the geometrical uncertainty which was found to be larger when the implant and catheter orientation are near to parallel with imaging plane. As the slice thickness decreases and angle of implanted catheters with respect to imaging plane increases, there was reduction in the uncertainties. Smallest slice thickness had the least reconstruction uncertainty.

APBI using radical breast brachytherapy involves the irradiation limited to partial breast volume, which necessitates the accurate target delineation. As the volume around tumor bed is at higher risk of tumor relapse if treatment is not adequate. Present work in the thesis found a significant delineation variability in LC and CTV intra-operative multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy, which was significantly related to cavity visualization index (CVI). The relative standard deviation in target volume delineation for intra-operative MIB was found to be 11.7% (k=1). Patients having excellent visualization of lumpectomy cavity showed smaller delineation variability in CTV and lumpectomy cavity.

An inter-observer variation in the target delineation yielded the variations on the active dwell positions in catheters and therefore significant impact was observed on dosimetric indices. Conformal brachytherapy plans showed variations of up to 12 % in the mean dosimetric coverage and conformality of CTV. Delineation variability also yielded the CTV coverage with 73.1% with common prescription dose and 77.9% with paired prescription dose among all observers. The mean RSD of 5.7% and 7.1% (k=1) in the dosimetric coverage and conformality respectively was found due to inter-observer delineation variability.

The post-operative changes in the tumour bed after intra-operative placement of brachytherapy catheters are due to accumulation of seroma during breast conservation therapy. These temporal changes caused the patient specific variation in the CTV during APBI using multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy and yielded a significant reduction of 5.8% in mean target coverage and 8.1% in mean conformity.

6.2 Future directions:

The present work showed that geometrical uncertainties can be minimizes by reducing scan thickness and increasing the orientation angle of the implant from imaging plane. The dosimetric impact of reconstruction errors could be a subject of investigation. Also the presence of breathing motion also has an impact on reconstruction errors and can be further investigated.

The work carried out in the present thesis showed that even though the delineation process is standardized, there is a need of further investigation for

10

minimizing the delineation uncertainty in those patients who has poor visibility of lumpectomy cavity. Role of other imaging modalities such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and utrasonography (USG) could be a subject of investigation for the further improvements in delineation process. Few investigators reported superior consistency in target delineation and improvement in delineation variability when MRI imaging are added with CT and patients with dense breast parenchyma showed better visualization with USG imaging.

It was demonstrated that although increase in the prescription dose may be used to compensate for delineation variability for smaller target volumes (<180cm³) at the cost of homogeneity for 3D conformal plans, however investigation of possibility of margins to address dosimetric variation due to target delineation variability could be a subject of investigation. Although margins in the radial directions of the catheters are not recommended in brachytherapy, margins along the catheters still can be applied.

The work in thesis demonstrated the patient specific variability in the CTV during APBI using MIB which was found to have significant impact on target coverage and conformality. Adaptive brachytherapy could be a subject of future research if the change in the target volume is larger than the intra-observer variability in target delineation.

11

List of Figures:

- Multi-catheter intra-operative interstitial brachytherapy technique practiced at Tata Memorial Centre a) lumpectomy and marking of implant planes b) and c) insertion of stainless steel needles in different plane d) replacement of stainless steel needle with flexible catheters.
- MammoSite applicators a) MammoSite balloon applicator and MammoSite Multilument system b) Contura balloon applicator.
- 3. a) Balloon applicators and b) X ray source of electronic brachytherapy.
- 4. SAVI brachytherapy device.
- 5. ClearPath brachytherapy device.
- 6. Indigenously designed multi-catheter breast phantom consists of square geometry interstitial implant.
- 7. Rotational platform with angular scale.
- 8. Verification of phantom rotation angle using radio-opaque markers.
- 9. Coordinate transformation method used in present work
- 10. Multi-planar images of the phantom in a) sagittal, b) axial and c) coronal planes with reference data set which was acquired for 90^{0} catheters orientation and 0.6 mm slice thickness.
- 11. Multi-planar images of the phantom in a) axial, b) sagittal and c) coronal planes which was acquired for 5^0 orientation and 5mm slice thickness.
- 12. Mean relative distance between corresponding dwell positions for a) slice thickness 0.6mm, b) slice thickness 2.5 mm and c) slice thickness 5 mm.
- 13. SD of mean relative distance between corresponding dwell positions for a) slice thickness 0.6mm, b) slice thickness 2.5 mm and c) slice thickness 5 mm.

- 14. The cavity visualization index, a) Cavity is well visualized with distinction from breast/muscle tissues, b) Cavity is visualized but not clearly distinguishable with either breast or muscle tissue, c) Cavity is visualized but not clearly distinguishable with both breast and muscle tissue, d) All parameters are not satisfactory, e) axial CT scan represents the delineation of LC using the radio-opaque markers, seroma and air in the lumpectpomy cavity.
- 15. a) Axial image of representative patient having lumpectomy cavity with clearly identified margins, b) Inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy cavity among all observers, c) Inter-observer variation in delineation of clinical target volume among all observers, d) Impact of Inter-observer variation on prescription isodose, e) Axial image of representative patient having lumpectomy cavity with indistinct margins with adjacent tissues, f) Inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy cavity among all observers, g) Inter-observer variation in delineation in delineation of clinical target volume among all observers, h) Impact of Inter-observer variation in delineation of clinical target volume among all observers, h) Impact of Inter-observer variation on prescription isodose. (isodose shown are for graphically optimized plans).
- 16. Plot between mean relative CTV volume among observers and mean dose volume indices.
- 17. Plot between the mean % variation in the CTV volume of each pair among 5 observers with a) mean % variation in CI, b) mean % variation in OI, c) mean % variation in EI, d) mean % variation in COIN.
- 18. Figure demonstrating the change in volume of seroma filled lumpectomy cavity during the first day (Figure 18 a) and the last day of treatment (Figure 18 b).
List of tables:

- 1. Mean geometrical distance and Standard deviations (SD) between corresponding source dwell positions for all implant orientations and slice thickness.
- 2. Comparison of CTV volumes among all observers.
- 3. Lumpectomy cavity (LC) and Clinical target volume (CTV) variability.
- 4. Cavity visualization index (CVI) and variability of LC and CTV volumes with median value and range.
- 5. Indices used for plan evaluation and comparison.
- 6. Impact of interobserver variation on active source positions.
- Impact of interobserver variation on dosimetric parameters for geometrically optimized plans
- Maximum percentage variation in mean dose volume indices yielded from the analysis of 2500 evaluations for all 5 dose volume indices for graphically optimized plans
- Mean (SD) and median of coverage index (CI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans
- Mean (SD) and median of conformal index (COIN) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans
- 11. Mean (SD) and median of overdose volume index (OI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

- 12. Mean (SD) and median of external volume index (EI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans
- 13. Mean (SD) and median of plan quality index (PQI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans.
- 14. Mean relative standard deviation SD (in %) for CI and COIN for optimized treatment plans.
- 15. Impact of CTV variability on dosimetric parameters for graphically optimized plan.
- 16. Change in volumes of Lumpectomy Cavity (LC) and Clinical Target Volume (CTV) between the first and last day of treatment.
- 17. Mean (standard deviation) of CTV volume and dose volume indices for plan P_{CT1} and P_{CT2} .
- 18. Dose volume parameters of CTV for plan P_{CT1} and P_{CT2} (mean, standard deviation)
- Mean absolute variation in Coverage Index (CI) and Conformal Index (COIN) of Clinical Target Volume (CTV)

Glossary

3D	Three dimensional				
AAPM	American Association of Physicists in Medicine				
APBI	Accelerated partial breast irradiation				
COIN	Conformity index				
СОМ	Centre of mass				
СТ	Computerized tomography				
CTV	Clinical target volume				
CVI	Cavity visualization index				
D95	Dose to 95% of CTV volume				
D90	Dose to 90% of CTV volume				
DVH	Dose volume histogram				
DVI	Dose volume indices				
DHI	Dose homogeneity index				
EI	External volume index				
GEC ESTRO	European Group of Curietherapie and the European Society				
	for Radiology and Oncology				

HDR	High dose rate				
LC	Lumpectomy cavity				
OAR	Organs at risk				
OI	Overdose volume index				
MIB	Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy				
MLB	Multilumen balloon brachytherapy				
PQI	Plan quality index				
PTV	Planning target volume				
RCV	Relative CTV volume				
RTOG	Radiation therapy oncology group				
SD	Standard deviation				
TPS	Treatment planning system				
TRAK	Total reference air kerma				
V100	Percentage of volume receiving 100% of the dose				
V_{100_common}	common volume of prescription dose				
V _{100_pair}	common volume of prescription dose for respective pair				

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Treatment of breast cancer:

Breast cancer is the second most common cause of mortality and the most common cancer among women worldwide [1]. In last many decades, cervical cancer was the most common cancer leading to more deaths in women in India compared to any other cancer [1]. However breast cancer has been rising steadily in the last 10 years, and for the first time in and thereafter 2012, breast cancer became most common cancer in women in India. [2]

Mastectomy was the preferred treatment modality historically for all stages of breast cancer. Large randomized trials provided the evidence that the breast conserving therapy (BCT) is the treatment of choice, demonstrating equivalent survival compared to mastectomy [3-8]. BCT, characteristically consisting of surgical removal of lumpectomy with wide local excision with negative margins followed by whole breast irradiation (WBI), with the aim of irradiating remaining tumor cells in the tumor bed. The improvement in the overall survival was found with lumpectomy with radiation therapy when the studies were carried out to compare it with lumpectomy alone [7, 9-12]. Use of radiotherapy also demonstrated the reduction in recurrences many fold in the above studies. Reduced long term complications, lesser physhological trauma and better cosmetic outcomes were observed in the patients treated with BCT [7-8].

Standard WBI irradiates the whole breast, which receives up to 45–50 Gy, delivered over 30–35 days, and in most patients, doses to the tumor bed are boosted either by external irradiation or interstitial brachytherapy. These booster doses usually range between 10 and 15 Gy and when the boost is delivered through external beam

radiotherapy, WBI lasts 6–7 weeks. The prolonged treatment is inconvenient for those patients residing away from the radiotherapy centers and contributes to the mastectomy as a treatment choice thus affects quality of life [13-15]. Partial breast irradiation in which limited volume of breast is irradiated around the lumpectomy was explored to reduce overall treatment duration.

1.2 Rationale for Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation (APBI):

Evaluation of the follow up data from many studies revealed that the majority of the recurrences with both breast-conserving surgery only and breast-conserving surgery followed by whole-breast radiotherapy treatment were within the tumor bed, suggesting that probably partial breast irradiation may be enough for women with smaller risk of recurrence in breast [16-20]. Recurrences in the ipsilateral breast were observed in only 3 to 4% of patients in the areas other than tumor bed [20]. Pathological studies also supported this facts on those women considered appropriate for BCT had the microscopic spread of malignant cells is likely to be within the 1 cm [21-23].

Irradiation of partial breast with a smaller target volume leads to the expectation of lesser radiation doses of nearby organs such as the lungs and heart. Literature also revealed about lung toxicity induced due to radiation of breast cancers after radiotherapy treatment, such as pneumonitis and lung fibrosis [24-25]. Many large trials also reported an increase in mortality for incidence of lung cancer after radiotherapy for breast cancer [26-29]. The reduction in the radiation target volume in breast cancer provides two advantages. The dose per fraction can be increased and accelerated treatment schedule can be achieved with minimum toxicity to the organs at risk as they do not lie within the target volume as compared to whole breast

irradiation where a part of lung and heart in left sided breast cancer may receive larger doses of radiation. Genesis of the Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation was conceptualize with the fact that with more than 50% reduction in the target volume receiving radical doses of radiation, radiobiologically equivalent doses can be safely delivered over one week duration.

1.3 Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation (APBI) Techniques:

Rather treating whole breast irradiation, APBI treats only the tumor bed with a 1-2 cm margin. Decrease in the target volume and increase in the dose per fraction resulted in a shorter treatment duration by using APBI technique. Improvement in the patient comfort and reduction in the radiation induced toxicity to the lung, heart, and contralateral breast is due to the shorter overall course of treatment from 6–7 weeks for whole breast radiotherapy to one week for APBI. There are many techniques currently available to implement APBI in radiotherapy clinics, these are: EBRT (external beam radiation therapy), multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy, balloon brachytherapy, and intra-operative radiation therapy (IORT). All these techniques are entirely different from one another in terms of radiation delivery methods, invasiveness, efficiency, acceptability between radiation oncologist and overall length of treatment. These techniques are extensively reviewed by Njeh et al [30]. The brief description of these techniques is discussed.

1.3.1 APBI using Brachytherapy:

Brachytherapy places radioactive sources either within tumor or in close contact with the tumor volume. The word brachytherapy means short therapy, derives its name from the Greek word "Brachus" means "near", implying that the irradiation is restricted to volumes in close proximity. The brachytherapy treatment is from the inside out as the radiation is emitted outwards from radiation source with a sharp fall off dose to nearby tissues. Unlike, in external-beam radiotherapy, radiation traverse normal healthy tissues and organ at risks to reach the target volume contains tumor cells. Therefore, brachytherapy allows the dose escalation with high conformality (i.e.; radiation dose confinement to the tumor volume while sparing normal tissues). Brachytherapy is being used in various clinical cancer sites as a radical treatment modality or as boost along with in combination with external-beam radiotherapy.

1.3.1.a Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB):

Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB) is the earliest technique used in initial APBI studies and it has the largest follow-up [30-39]. Flexible after-loading catheters are placed intra-operatively after lumpectomy using needles. To ensure acceptable coverage of tumor bed with adequate margins, brachytherapy flexible nylon catheters are inserted in multiple planes. The inter-plane and inter-catheter distance are kept 1 to 1.5 cm (Figure 1). The procedure typically requires large number of catheters (typically 15 to 30) to assure adequate coverage by prescribed dose. Multiple nylon tubes are placed in the breast by free-hand approach using stainless steel needle and Peris system guidelines. An experienced radiation oncologist can produce the good geometry implant having excellent dosimetric quality. Currently for MIB high dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy is used. The dose of 34 Gy in 10 fractions or 32 Gy in 8 fractions twice daily for HDR is typically prescribed for the treatment which is biological effective dose equivalent to 45 Gy of the LDR treatments [40].



Figure 1: Multi-catheter intra-operative interstitial brachytherapy technique practiced at Tata Memorial Centre a) lumpectomy and marking of implant planes b) and c) insertion of stainless steel needles in different plane d) replacement of stainless steel needle with flexible catheters

1.3.1. b Balloon-Based Brachytherapy Devices (Memosite and Contura):

The MammoSite brachytherapy system (Hologic, Marlborough, MA) applicator consists of catheter with double lumen having 15 cm length connected to a silicon balloon (Figure 2 a). The dual channel catheter allows entering an Ir-192 HDR brachytherapy source to the central channel which is at the balloon length. Small amount of contrast material is mixed with saline solution for visualization of inflated balloon. The amount of contrast would require to inflate the balloon adequately and to fill the lumpectomy cavity and thus to achieve conformance balloon with lumpectomy cavity. Prescribed dose of radiation is delivered by an Ir-192 radioactive source, which is controlled by remote after-loader with high dose rate brachytherapy machine and the source is inserted into the balloon via the Mamosite catheter. [30, 41-42].

MammoSite technique may not be suitable in patients with small breast because of the requirement for skin-to-cavity distances and which is its major limitation. This limitation was overcome by introducing a MammoSite Multi-lumen device and Contura device (Figure 2 b). In addition to central channel, Contura balloon is having four more channels to accommodate the HDR source around it [30, 43]. Compared with single channel applicator, additional channels of Contura and MammoSite Multi-lumen device provide multiple source positions and thus allow increased flexibility in dose optimization. Therefore the normal tissue and OAR doses can be reduced using these devices. Asymmetric activation of the source dwell positions also allowed greater flexibility in the treatment delivery.



a) MammoSite Balloon applicator and MammoSite Multilumen System (www.hologic.com)



b) Contura balloon applicator (www.hologic.com)

Figure 2: MammoSite applicators a) MammoSite balloon applicator and MammoSite Multilument system b) Contura balloon applicator

1.3.1.c Axxent Electronic Brachytherapy:

Another form of balloon brachytherapy introduced by X-soft (Fremont, CA) is Axxent electronic brachytherapy system [30, 41, 44]. It consists of balloon catheter which is similar to the MammoSite system. The Axxent system is having has a central catheter which allows the source to be inserted in the device (Figures 3 a). There are separate ports to Inflate the balloon and saline and for removal of seroma fluid or air in the lumpectomy cavity. Radiolucent material covers the balloon wall, which can have radio-opaque visualization on a radiograph or axial CT scan. The advantage of the system is no additional radiographic contrast required for visualization. Instead of an Ir-192 high-dose-rate (HDR) source, the Axxent electronic brachytherapy system utilizes a 50 kilo-voltage x-ray source and that makes this system a novel treatment device. X-ray source in the miniature x-ray tube, is inserted into balloon applicator which is kept inside the patient near the tumor bed (Figure 3 b).



Figure 3 a) Balloon applicators and b) X ray source of electronic brachytherapy

1.3.1.d Hybrid Brachytherapy Devices (SAVI and ClearPath):

Hybrid brachytherpay devices such as Struts Adjusted Volume Implant (SAVI) and the ClearPath was developed as a modification in the single lumen balloon applicator to get the advantages of dosimetic conformality of multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy and ease of insertion in the treatment site.

The SAVI device (Figure 4) have a central strut surrounded by peripheral struts and manufactured by Cianna Medical, Aliso, Viejo, Ca [30, 41, 45]. The peripheral struts are 6, 8 or 10 in numbers and can be differentially loaded with a HDR source. Numbers of struts are depends on the size of the SAVI device. Collapsed form of the device is inserted in through a small incision and then expanded to fit the lumpectomy cavity by expanding the peripheral struts. Three of the peripheral struts have the radio-opaque markers which can be identified at the time of the reconstruction process during the treatment planning.

ClearPath device (North American Scientific, Chatsworth, CA) is similar to SAVI and having inner and outer catheters (Figure 5) [30, 41, 46].. To conform the wall of the cavity, the outer expandable catheters can be expanded like a balloon devise. Six additional plastic tubes are around the central catheter through which the HDR Ir-192 source delivers the radiation. The advantage of ClearPath device over the SAVI is that it is designed in such a way that the radioactive source is never in direct contact with the surrounding tissues.



Figure 4: SAVI brachytherapy device



Figure 5: ClearPath brachytherapy device

1.3.2 APBI using External beam radiotherapy:

External beam radiation therapy techniques used for APBI are 3D-conformal radiation therapy (3DCRT) using static photon beams, hybrid photon and electrons beams, intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT) and proton beam therapy [30, 47-49]. 3DCRT and IMRT are non-invasive techniques and utilized the commonly available equipments in modern radiotherapy departments. The clinical target volume includes the surgical cavity with an adequate margin which is edited from the skin and chest wall to spare them from radiation. A margin for respiratory motion and setup variation is added additionally for EBRT. APBI using 3DCRT offers superior dose homogeneity at the cost of increased dose to normal tissues and organ at risks when compared with brachytherapy.

1.3.3 Intra-Operative Radiation Therapy Techniques:

Intra-operative radiation therapy (IORT) technique delivers radiation doses to the tumor bed directly during surgery using a single fraction. Initially intra-operative radiation therapy devices were not technically advanced; therefore for IORT transportation of the patient from the operating theatre to the treatment room was required. Otherwise IORT system needed installation in custom-built intra-operative radiation therapy theatres [30, 50]. Mobile intra-operative radiation therapy devices were introduced and developed after technological advancement in miniaturization technology. In 1998 Intrabeam device which was the first intra-operative radiation therapy with kilovoltage photons was used [30, 51]. Two other mobile linear accelerators Mobetron and Novac-7, which were capable to generate megavoltage electrons, have become commercially available thereafter. In our institution we are practicing the mulicatheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB) technique for APBI. Present thesis is focused around the MIB technique and the uncertainties associated with this technique

1.4 Transition from conventional radiograph based to three dimensional (3D) Computed Tomography (CT) based MIB dosimetry:

Conventionally the dosimetry and treatment planning of interstitial implants had been carried out using a set of orthogonal radiographs. Dosimetric outcome of conventional brachytherapy planning is being evaluated by visualizing the isodoses qualitatively in the orthogonal planes of implant geometry. Dosimetric system used for conventional planning lacks in providing three-dimensional relationship between the volume of isodoses and the anatomical extension of the target volume. Thus tumor coverage may not necessarily correlate with the implant dosimetric quality estimated using the Anderson dose volume histogram. In last decade, anatomy based treatment planning using computed tomography (CT) scans was adopted in the clinics which provides a clinically realistic evaluation of the implant dosimetry on target volume [53-57, 59]. Initially 3D CT based systems were not available for brachytherapy treatment planning. During that era Vicini et al [53] carried out quantitative evaluation on 3D CT images of radiograph based plans by retrospectively translating the dwell positions and dwell times planned for conventional radiograph based 2D plans on to 3D CT data of the patient. They demonstrated the necessity of CT based planning for the clinically realistic dosimetric evaluation of target coverage and dose homogeneity. First report on 3D computed tomography-based planning for multi-catheter partial breast dosimetry was published by Das et al. [54]. Kestin et al [57] used large number of catheters along with the interactive graphical optimization for postoperative image guided implant technique and demonstrated the improvement in coverage of target volume compared to the 2D planning using radiograph. Cuttino et al. [55] also found improvement in the target coverage with CT guided implants when compare with the postoperative implants guided using fluoroscopic placement. Dosimetric evaluation of 3D CT based optimized plans showed improved target coverage and inhomogeneity when compared with dose point optimization plans generated on radiographs by Major et al [58]. They have compared plans generated using different optimization strategies [58] in patients undergoing postoperative template implants for partial breast irradiation. In our institute we had carried out comparison of the dosimetric outcome of radiograph and computed tomography-based planning using objective parameters such as different dose volume indices and various optimization strategies on the same set of patients undergoing intraoperative interstitial brachytherapy implants for partial breast irradiation [59]. Three-dimensional computed tomographybased dosimetry was found superior compared to conventional two-dimensional radiograph-based APBI planning. Dose volume indices derived from computed tomography-based planning were found useful for evaluating the implant as well as comparing the different brachytherapy plans. Significant improvements in dosimetric conformity over conventional X-ray based plan was observed in graphical optimization plans due to the interactive optimization on the target volume.

1.5 Review of uncertainties in brachytherapy:

In last decade the CT image based three dimensional (3D) brachytherapy for multicatheter interstitial breast implants was evolved over conventional radiograph based techniques and have been established in clinics [53-59]. The advantages of 3D brachytherapy over conventional brachytherapy planning are to provide clinically realistic dosimetric information on target and OAR volumes and anatomy based quantitative evaluation using dose volume analysis. It also allows individualized treatment tailoring of dose around the 3D target volume. Uncertainties in 3D image based external beam radiotherapy have been investigated in details during last decades [60-72]. Uncertainties in brachytherapy were considered negligible as the catheters; tumor and surrounding tissues were considered invariable [73]. However, uncertainties in brachytherapy can lead to potential source of errors as the dose gradients are significant beyond the target volume.

Clinical brachytherapy uncertainties were extensively reviewed by Kiristis and colleagues [74]. They have discussed the recommendations of American Association of Physicist in Medicine (AAPM) and Groupe Européen de Curiethérapie – European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology (GEC-ESTRO) joint report on brachytherapy dosimetric uncertainties (AAPM TG-138) [75]. They have adopted the methodology based on the report of Comité International des Poids et Mésures (CIPM) for evaluating and expressing measurement uncertainty [76], which was further developed by the International Standards Organization (ISO) in the Guide to the Expression of Uncertainty in Measurement (GUM) [77] and by the U.S. National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Technical Note 1297 [78]. The Uncertainty has category in either Type A (statistical) or Type B (everything else) components. The precision of a measurement is the reproducibility among measured value (Type A), however the difference between true value and observed value is the accuracy.

Combining all uncertainty components in quadrature as relative standard uncertainty yielded the overall uncertainty 'V'. Wich is expressed as Eq. (1) where s_i is the

standard deviation of the mean of multiple measurements and is the quadrature sum of all Type A uncertainties, and u_i is the quadrature sum of all Type B uncertainties.

$$V = 2\sqrt{(s_i^2 + u_j^2)} \tag{1}$$

A coverage factor of 2 (k = 2) to be multiplied with the square root of the quadrature sum of both type A and type B uncertainty to estimate the overall uncertainty (expanded k = 2) for a 95% confidence interval. The uncertainty estimation assumes the observations having normal distribution and the individual components of uncertainty should be expressed with k = 1 as recommended in TG-138 report.

Kiristis et al [74] describes the sources of uncertainty in brachytherapy which includes the uncertainties in source strength measurements, dose calculations in treatment planning system (TPS), heterogeneity effects, dose delivery, imaging and the uncertainty at the patient level. The typical uncertainty in source strength measurements for HDR source was estimated as 1.5 % (k=1) however for treatment planning with HDR source it was 2.6% (k=1) [75]. As the current TPS is having dose calculation algorithms based on AAPM TG-43, uncertainties due to heterogeneities are also involved which is to be estimated for each treatment site [79-81]. The uncertainty in dose delivery such as positional accuracy was estimated as ± 1 mm [82], however, maximum contribution of transit dose to measured dose was reported 0.5% due to temporal accuracy [82]. Uncertainties in the imaging may lead to reconstruction errors and subsequent dose to structures which is dependent on clinical disease site.

Uncertainties at the patient level includes structure delineation, applicator reconstruction, inter and intra fraction anatomical variations which needs to be estimated for each clinical site and technique separately. Review of literature revealed extensive work reporting the uncertainties in mainly for gynecological and prostate brachytherapy [83-94]. Although there are studies addressing the uncertainties in balloon brachytherapy for accelerated partial breast irradiation [95-100], there have been so far very limited data published for uncertainty related to 3D image based breast brachytherapy using multi catheter interstitial implants [101].

1.6 Aims/Objective of the work undertaken for the thesis:

In the present thesis the work was carried out to investigate the uncertainties for CT image based 3D brachytherapy of multi-catheter interstitial breast implants for APBI, which are as follow:

a) Reconstruction errors of catheters for interstitial breast implant using indigenously designed breast phantom.

b) Inter-observer variation in the delineation of the target volume

- c) Dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in target delineation
- d) Change in the target volume during course of brachytherapy treatment

The scientific literature relevant to this thesis is summarized in this chapter. However more specific publications are reviewed in the individual chapters. Chapter 3, 4 and 5 of this thesis is already been published in the form of research papers in the peer reviewed international journals; these are denoted by papers 1, 3 and 2 in the publication list.

Chapter 2

Geometrical uncertainties: Reconstruction

errors

2.1 Introduction:

Last decade witnessed transition from conventional radiograph based brachytherapy to computed tomography (CT) based three dimensional (3D) conformal brachytherapy [102-105]. Brachytherapy offers steep dose gradient near the sources and active source positions in 3D conformal brachytherapy are loaded in the vicinity of the 3D defined target volume. Therefore, accuracy in the localization of sources inside the catheters plays an important role for overall accuracy in the treatment planning of 3D brachytherapy.

Source localization accuracy during the brachytherapy treatment planning relies on the accuracy in the reconstruction of the catheters. In CT based 3D brachytherapy accuracy of catheter reconstruction depends on the thickness of acquired axial CT slice and the orientation of the catheters with respect to the imaging plane. Conventionally reconstruction accuracy in brachytherapy is being investigated as a part of QA of treatment planning system [106-108]. Many authors explored the reconstruction errors using customized phantom for prostate seed brachytherapy [92, 109-111]. Algorithms for auto-reconstruction were also introduced for faster and accurate reconstruction of brachytherapy catheters [112-113]. Investigation of reconstruction errors and its dosimetric impact were also reported for gynecological brachytherapy [114-115]. In a multi-centre study accuracy of implant reconstruction and dose delivery was determined; however majority used radiograph based localization methods [82]. Limited work was published demonstrating the reconstruction accuracy for breast implant [116]. There is no study reporting systematic investigation of the optimum slice thickness and orientation of the implant. The present work was carried out to investigate the impact of slice thickness and

implant orientation with respect to the imaging plane on the reconstruction errors using an indigenously fabricated breast phantom.

2.2 Materials and methods:

2.2.1 Design and fabrication of indigenous phantom and rotational platform:

A multi-slice 3D breast phantom was indigenously designed and fabricated using Polymethyl-methacrylate (PMMA) sheets. Phantom was constructed by manually cutting of PMMA sheets for external body contours of a representative patient of breast cancer which was having average dimensions among the cohort of 20 patients. Manual milling of the phantom surface was performed to create smooth external body contours. A three plane implant having square geometry with flexible nylon tubes was constructed in the breast phantom. Nylon tubes were placed in the customized grooves made in PMMA sheets. Each plane had four catheters; therefore, in total 12 catheters implant was simulated. To create a standard geometry implant, all tubes kept in straight line with Inter-catheter and inter-plane separation of 12 mm which represented template based implant. Figure 6 shows the phantom with implanted tubes in a square standard geometry. To investigate the reconstruction errors due to rotation of implant with imaging plane a rotating platform with angular scale was fabricated. Figure 7 represent the rotating platform which was fabricated for the study.

2.2.2 Acquisition of CT scan:

GE Light Speed Xtra, (GE Medical Systems, Wisconsin, USA) CT machine was used to acquire the CT images for the study. Lasers on CT system was checked for its accuracy and aligned with the image centre. The rotating axis of the platform was than aligned with the CT lasers. Radio-opaque markers were kept on the rotating platform which was also used to identify the rotational axis and rotational angle during the reconstruction and planning process. Phantom was placed on the rotating platform and radio-opaque markers were kept in phantom at some known geometric locations on the external surface of phantom to verify the accuracy of the process.

CT scans were acquired with slice thickness of 0.6 mm, 2.5 mm and 5 mm with constant pitch value. A reference scan was acquired in which the implant geometry was kept perpendicular to the imaging plane (90^{0}) with the minimum slice thickness of 0.6 mm. The phantom was then rotated to various angles $(0^{0}, 5^{0}, 10^{0} \text{ and } 20^{0})$ and scans with slice thickness of 0.6 mm, 2.5 mm and 5 mm were acquired. All the scans were transferred to Oncentra brachytherapy planning system (Nucletron, an Elekta company, Stockholm, Sweden).



Figure 6: Indigenously designed multi-catheter breast phantom consists of square geometry interstitial implant

2.2.3 Reconstruction of the catheters:

Reconstruction of the catheters was carried out for the CT data of the phantom for all orientation and slice thickness using multi-planar reconstruction with 5 mm step size. Active source dwell positions were loaded in all the tubes till the phantom surface with inter source distance of 20 mm. Active source dwell positions was kept consistent for all CT data sets. Source co-ordinates were noted for each source positions. Figure 8 shows the measurement for angular rotation angle (for verification) of the platform using the markers kept at platform.



Figure 7: Rotational platform with angular scale



Figure 8: Verification of phantom rotation angle using radio-opaque markers

2.2.4 Coordinate transformation:

The source coordinates of the CT images for 0.6 mm slice thickness acquired with perpendicular implant orientation (90⁰) to the imaging plane was taken as reference. Co-ordinate transformation was performed on the source co-ordinates of the other phantom orientation and slice thickness to the reference orientation and compared with the reference source co-ordinates. The Figure 9 shows the co-ordinate transformation method and equation 2 and 3 represents the co-ordinate transformation matrix used in the present work.



The primed coordinate system is rotated counterclockwise through an angle θ relative to the unprimed coordinate system.



$$x' = x \cos \theta - y \sin \theta$$

$$y' = x \sin \theta + y \cos \theta$$
(2)
(3)

2.2.5 Analysis:

Accuracy in the localization of the rotating platform axis was estimated by computing the standard deviation in the coordinates of the rotation axis in axial, longitudinal and vertical direction for all slice thickness and implant rotation. The mean geometrical distance and standard deviation (SD) between corresponding source positions from all CT data sets with reference data set was estimated for investigating reconstruction errors. The SD of mean displacement of dwell positions in axial, longitudinal and vertical direction between corresponding source dwell positions was also evaluated.

2.2.6 Statistics:

Statistical analysis was carried out using commercial Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS version 20.0, IBM, Chicago). The distribution of mean geometrical distances of the corresponding source dwell positions from the reference data set was tested using Shapiro-Wilk test and found to be normally distributed. Standard deviation (SD) of the histogram was taken as the uncertainty of the geometric position. One-way ANOVA test with Bonferroni post hoc analysis was used to estimate the statistical significance of the mean geometrical distances with slice thickness and the implant orientation.

2.3 Results:

Figure 10 shows the multi-planar images of the phantom in a) sagittal, b) axial and c) coronal planes with reference data set which was acquired for 90^o catheters orientation and 0.6 mm slice thickness. The reference data set represents the maximum spatial information of implanted catheters. Figure 11 shows the multiplanar images of the phantom in a) axial, b) sagittal and c) coronal planes which was acquired for 5^o orientations and 5mm slice thickness. In all 3 planes reference images of figure 1, the implanted catheters were clearly visible with adequate spatial information of implanted catheters for reconstruction. However, for the corresponding images in figure 2, loss of spatial information was observed due to the larger slice thickness and its orientation which was near parallel to the imaging plane. Maximum reconstruction error (SD = 0.3 mm) in the localization of rotating platform axis was observed in longitudinal direction, which was the direction of slice thickness. Similar observation was found for the corresponding source dwell positions where the maximum reconstruction error (SD = 1.4 mm) was observed for the localization of dwell positions in the longitudinal direction for 5 mm slice thickness and 5^0 implant orientation when individual components of source coordinates were analyzed.

Figure 12 represents the mean relative distance between the corresponding source dwell position for the different slice thickness and various orientations of the implanted tubes from scanning plane and Figure 13 represents the respective standard deviations. Table 1summarizes the mean geometrical distance and Standard deviations (SD) between corresponding dwell positions for all implant orientations and slice thickness. There was significant increase in mean (SD) geometrical distance by increasing the slice thickness for all implant orientation. Significant increase in mean (SD) geometrical distance was also observed when implant orientation angle increased from parallel (0^0) orientation. The maximum mean geometrical distance (SD) of 1.7 (0.9) mm was observed for 5.0 mm slice thickness and parallel implant orientation. The mean geometrical distance and SD tends to decrease with increasing the angle between the imaging plane and catheter plane, however it increases with slice thickness. For 20° angular orientation of implanted tubes from imaging plane and 0.6 mm slice thickness, the minimum reconstruction error (SD) of 0.3 mm was observed. Smallest slice thickness found to have consistent and least reconstruction errors for all implant orientations.



Figure 10: Multi-planar images of the phantom in a) sagittal, b) axial and c) coronal planes with reference data set which was acquired for 90^{0} catheters orientation and 0.6 mm slice thickness.



Figure 11: Multi-planar images of the phantom in a) axial, b) sagittal and c) coronal planes which was acquired for 5^0 orientation and 5mm slice thickness.



Figure 12: Mean relative distance between corresponding dwell positions for a) slice thickness 0.6mm, b) slice thickness 2.5 mm and c) slice thickness 5 mm



Figure 13: SD of mean relative distance between corresponding dwell positions for a)

slice thickness 0.6mm, b) slice thickness 2.5 mm and c) slice thickness 5 mm

	Implant orientation	Slice thickness (mm)				0
	(⁰) from imaging plane	0.6	2.5	5.0	ρ value*	pairs
Mean± Standard	0 ⁰	1.1±0.39	1.5±0.56	1.7±0.90	0.000	a, b
deviation of						
geometrical	5 ⁰	1.0+0.47	1.2+0.48	1.7+0.83	0.000	b, c
distancebetween	-					-, -
corresponding	10 ⁰	1.1±0.41	1.3±0.41	1.4±0.55	0.005	b
source dwell						
positions	20 ⁰	0.8±0.30	1.1±0.40	1.2±0.45	0.000	a, c
ρ value*		0.000	0.001	0.000		
Significant pairs		f, h, i	d, f	f, h		

 Table 1: Mean geometrical distance and Standard deviations (SD) between

 corresponding source dwell positions for all implant orientations and slice thickness

*One-way ANOVA test, statistical significance (0.05) is reported between couples

from post hoc Bonferrani analysis;

- ^{*a*}: 0.6 mm slice thickness vs 2.5 mm slice thickness,
- ^b: 0.6mm slice thickness vs 5.0 mm slice thickness,
- ^c: 2.5mm slice thickness vs 5.0 mm slice thickness.
- ^{*d*}: 0^0 implant orientation vs 5^0 implant orientation,
- ^{*e*}: 0^0 implant orientation vs 10^0 implant orientation,
- ^{*f*}: 0^0 implant orientation vs 20^0 implant orientation,
- ^g: 5⁰ implant orientation vs 10⁰ implant orientation,
- ^{*h*}: 5^0 implant orientation vs 20^0 implant orientation,
- ^{*i*}: 10⁰ implant orientation vs 20⁰ implant orientation,
2.4 Discussions:

The reconstruction of the catheters is one of the important steps in the brachytherapy planning process and the accuracy of localization of sources depends on the accuracy of catheter reconstruction. Active source positions in the vicinity of the target volume, steep dose gradients and rapid fall off the doses demands the overall accuracy in 3D conformal brachytherapy more stringent.

Reconstruction accuracy in brachytherapy is essentially a part of quality assurance (QA) of a treatment planning system [106]. Moreover, reconstruction accuracy plays an important role while implementing any new treatment technique using any new applicator, catheters, implant tubes and needles. Reconstruction accuracy of different techniques and treatment sites are studied by many authors using customized phantoms. As commissioning of new applicator/catheters system requires carrying out quality checks of each and every catheter for integrity and determinations of offset valuesfor CT/MRI based planning. Radiograph, autoradiograph alongwith CT/MRI images of the applicator/needles are recommended to be acquired for verification [114 - 115]. However most of these procedures are carried out using image acquisition in which axis of applicator and catheters are kept perpendicular to CT scanning plane in order to get maximum information of the applicators on the acquired images.

Siebert et al. developed a phantom for the verification of commercial 3D seed reconstruction algorithm for prostate brachytherapy and the accuracy of localization of seeds was investigated for radiograph based localization [109]. The phantom was later used for multi-centric study to test seed reconstruction accuracy for CT and X-ray based reconstruction [110]. CT and MRI compatible phantom was also developed to investigate the intrinsic accuracy of seed detection for both imaging modalities for prostate brachytherapy. In another study by Schmid et al, the needle reconstruction accuracy for ultrasound-guided prostate brachytherapy was investigated in a specialized prostate phantom [111].

For CT based 3D interstitial brachytherapy planning, source localization and catheter reconstruction is performed on the acquired CT scans. In many practical scenarios of interstitial breast implant, the implanted catheters are rarely perpendicular to imaging plane. Sometime catheters are near parallel to the axial plane. The acquisition of inadequate spatial information of catheters due to larger slice thickness and orientation has an impact on reconstruction uncertainties. Literature revealed limited work demonstrating the reconstruction accuracy for breast implant [116]. In the present work, specific phantom simulating the breast implant with a standard geometry was indigenously fabricated and systematic evaluation of reconstruction uncertainty for various implant orientation and image acquisition was carried out.

In the present work, the maximum variation in mean geometrical distance was 1.7 (SD = 0.9) mm which was observed for the largest slice width of 5 mm. Hensley et al [116] reported the uncertainties in the range of 1.1 mm to 2.8 mm. They have compared radiograph reconstruction with CT reconstruction for phantom and series of 33 patients. They observed larger uncertainty for patients than phantom due to patient movements. The limitation of the present work is that we did not simulate breathing motion in phantom to estimate the uncertainty due to breathing motion. The present study is carried out for standard implant geometry. Practically for an actual free hand breast implant, majority of time the implanted tubes are in different planes and also never follows straight line geometry. Therefore, reconstruction errors for an actual

breast implant might be larger than we observe in the present work. The reconstruction errors also depend on the slice thickness and the inter-catheter separation. Theoretically if slice thickness is comparable with the inter-catheter separation and catheters are aligned with the imaging plane, the parallel orientation may acquire the maximum information of the tube with least reconstruction errors. This is also reflected in our results, as the smallest slice thickness having the lesser errors with parallel orientation. Many of the reported studies addressed dosimetric impact of the reconstruction errors [108, 114, 117]. Another limitation of the present work is that we did not evaluate the dosimetric impact of the reconstruction errors for the breast implants.

In last decade the auto reconstruction capabilities were also developed in CT based brachytherapy planning system [112, 113]. It was demonstrated that auto reconstruction algorithm efficiently reconstructs the catheters with 90% success rate with mean geometrical errors varying from (0.38 ± 0.22) mm to (1.41 ± 0.44) mm with a mean value of (0.87 ± 0.36) mm [112]. However, we have observed that in our institution for intra-operative breast implants, presence of seroma and air in the lumpectomy cavity influence the efficiency of auto reconstruction and require larger manual corrections in auto reconstructed catheters. Also the radio-opaque buttons at the tip and connector end also hinders the efficiency of the auto reconstruction algorithm.

In a systematic study for prostate seed reconstruction, Siebert et al [110] observed that when the slice thickness of CT scan reaches to 4 or 5 mm the accuracy of the CT seed reconstruction decreases in longitudinal direction. In our work we observed similar findings for the largest slice thickness (5 mm) with had highest

reconstruction errors. We also observed the largest errors in the direction of the slice thickness (longitudinally) among all three directions. Present study also demonstrates that reconstruction errors are significantly less for the smallest slice thickness. However, reduction of the slice thickness may leads to higher exposure to the patient from the imaging dose. Moreover, there are the risks of secondary cancer for long term surviving patients from imaging dose [118]. Also selection of minimum slice thickness for each and every patient may leads to the large number of images which may cause problems of data management in a longer term. Therefore, selection of optimum slice thickness for every individual patient is required. Present work also suggests that is an implant is near parallel to the imaging plane, patient may be oriented to $\geq 10^{0}$ to get optimum reconstruction accuracy.

2.5 Conclusion:

Reconstruction errors were found to be larger when catheter orientations are near to parallel with imaging plane. Significant reduction in the reconstruction errors was observed when slice thickness decreases and angle of implanted catheters from imaging plane increases. Smallest slice thickness showed the least reconstruction errors.

52

Chapter 3

Inter-observer variation in target

volume delineation

3.1 Introduction:

Accuracy in the delineation of the volumes is an important step in the planning process of radiotherapy. Errors in the delineation may result in the geographic miss and excessive irradiation of surrounding normal tissues which may reflect in clinical outcomes. Inter-observer variation in the delineation of the volumes may have effect on the dose volume histogram resulting in differences in the plan acceptability between radiation oncologists. Inter-observer variability in delineation of volumes are systematically reviewed and documented for other sites such as gynecological and prostate brachytherapy in radiation oncology [73-74, 84, 86, 88, 94], however limited studies are published for multi-catheter interstitial breast brachytherapy [101].

In this chapter inter-observer variation in target volume delineation has been investigated.

3.2 Purpose:

Accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) for early stage breast cancers using MIB has shown promising early results for selected subgroup of patients. [30-39] The APBI technique offers overall reduction of treatment time to 1 week compared to 3-6 weeks of standard whole breast radiation therapy due to the irradiation of confined target volume around the lumpectomy cavity (LC).

Conventionally dosimetry of MIB for APBI was carried out using localization X-ray radiographs which limited the three dimensional (3D) definition of the target volume, thereby resulting in larger irradiated volume. [58, 59] During the last decade, 3D image based brachytherapy has evolved which provided clinically realistic dosimetric information on patient anatomy [55-56, 58-59,119].

Active source positions in 3D brachytherapy are loaded in the vicinity of the 3D defined target volumes. Hence accurate delineation of the LC and clinical target volume (CTV) is essential to provide adequate dosimetric coverage and conformity. Variations in delineation of LC and CTV could result in the differences in treatment volumes and may have impact on dosimetric as well as clinical outcome. Inter-observer variability of tumour bed and target delineation for APBI using external beam radiotherapy has been extensively studied [68-72], however available literature is sparse for MIB of breast implants [101].

APBI using MIB was started at our centre in the year 2000 and initial 115 patients were treated by radiograph based planning [120]. We adopted 3D brachytherapy since 2005 and have reported excellent local control rate in 140 women with long term follow-up [36]. The present work investigated the inter-observer variation amongst radiation oncologists in delineation of LC and CTV for APBI treatment using MIB in a busy tertiary cancer centre.

3.3 Materials and methods:

3.3.1 Patient Selection and Implant Technique:

Twenty patients with treated with APBI using MIB were retrospectively included for the study. Intra-operative placement of nylon tubes in the lumpectomy cavity using open cavity technique was performed for patients with a tumor size up to 3 cm, negative margins and axillary lymph nodes. The technique allowed a direct visualization of tumor bed. The tumor bed was marked with five radio-opaque clips placed at the superior, inferior, medial and lateral borders and in the centre of the posterior wall of the cavity.

3.3.2 Imaging:

All patients underwent CT scans with 0.3 cm slice thickness on Somatom Emotion scanner (Siemens Medical Systems, Germany) and images were exported to the Oncentra 4.3 brachytherapy treatment planning system (TPS) (Elekta AB, Stockholm, Sweden). Median time for surgery to CT imaging was 3 days.

3.3.3 Cavity Visualization:

We developed a cavity visualization index (CVI) to standardize the delineation process for open cavity technique practiced at our institution. The visualization of cavity was ranked using three parameters: clarity of cavity (includes visualization of seroma, air in cavity and surgical clips), distinction of cavity with adjacent breast tissues and distinction of cavity with muscle tissues. The four point numeric index ranging from CVI = 0 i.e. poor, all parameter unsatisfactory (poor visualization of cavity which merges with adjacent tissues) to CVI =3 i.e. excellent, all parameters satisfactory (representing excellent visualization of cavity with clear distinction from breast and muscle tissues) was used in the current study (Figure 14).

Five radiation oncologists who specialize in the treatment of breast cancer participated as observers for this study. All observers independently assigned a CVI for each patient. The mode of the CVI was taken as CVI index for each patient.

3.3.4 Delineation and treatment planning:

Each observer contoured the LC on the axial CT scans. Consistent window level and width were used for delineation. Observers were blinded from reviewing other contours. CTV was obtained by uniform volume expansion with 1 cm around the LC. CTV was edited by limiting the skin by 0.5 cm and up to the chest wall. For brachytherapy CTV was considered as planning target volume (PTV).

3.3.5. Analysis:

The analysis was done by computing spatial concordance (conformity index, CI) of LC and CTV, which is ratio of common volume and encompassing volume drawn by all observers (CI_{common}). The generalized conformity index (CI_{gen}) was computed for LC and CTV.

The generalized conformity index (CI_{gen}) defined as the ratio of the sum of all overlapping volumes between pairs of observers and the sum of all overlapping and all non-overlapping volumes between the same pairs [121].

$$\label{eq:ci_gen} \text{CI}_{\text{gen}} = \frac{\sum_{\text{peireij}} |\text{Ai} \cap \text{Aj}|}{\sum_{\text{peireij}} |\text{Ai} \cup \text{Aj}|}$$

Centre of mass (COM) was computed and mean distance for each pair wise comparison between COM of LC and CTV was quantified for all patients [68]. Ratio of maximum and minimum volumes among observers for each patient was computed. Relative SD (SD/mean) of LC and CTV volumes were also computed.



Figure 14: The cavity visualization index, a) Cavity is well visualized with distinction from breast/muscle tissues, b) Cavity is visualized but not clearly distinguishable with either breast or muscle tissue, c) Cavity is visualized but not clearly distinguishable with both breast and muscle tissue, d) All parameters are not satisfactory



Figure 14 e): Axial CT scan representing the delineation of LC using the radioopaque markers, seroma and air in the lumpectpomy cavity

3.3.6 Statistics:

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 20.0, IBM, Chicago) was used for analysis. The coefficient of variation (COV) of volumes was computed. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare the volume of LC and CTV between each physician pair. One way ANOVA test was used to compare the measure of variability for LC and CTV with CVI levels.

Pair wise Comparison *	Median difference in CTV volume (cm ³)	ρ value ^
$\Delta_{21}\left(CTV2-CTV1\right)$	9.1	0.019
$\Delta_{31}\left(CTV3-CTV1\right)$	30.0	0.000
$\Delta_{41}\left(CTV4-CTV1\right)$	22.0	0.001
$\Delta_{15} \left(CTV1 - CTV5 \right)$	6.9	0.970
$\Delta_{32} \left(CTV3 - CTV2 \right)$	15.0	0.001
$\Delta_{42} \left(CTV4 - CTV2 \right)$	12.9	0.021
$\Delta_{25} \left(CTV2 - CTV5 \right)$	5.9	0.015
$\Delta_{34} \left(CTV3 - CTV4 \right)$	2.1	0.218
$\Delta_{35} \left(CTV3 - CTV5 \right)$	25.7	0.000
$\Delta_{45} \left(CTV4 - CTV5 \right)$	16.9	0.001

Table 2: Comparison of CTV volumes among all observers

* For pair wise comparison data was arrange to keep median difference positive

^ Wilcoxon signed-rank test

Abbreviations:

CTV – Clinical Target Volume

 Δ – *Difference in the volume*

 $V_{100\%}$ – Volume of prescription isodose

	Lumpectomy cavity (LC)			Clinical target volume (CTV)		
	Mean	Median	SD	Mean	Median	SD
Volume (cm ³)	75.8	68.0	30.9	159.8	146.6	58.8
CI _{common}	0.54	0.56	0.09	0.58	0.58	0.08
CI _{gen}	0.74	0.75	0.06	0.76	0.78	0.05
COM shift (cm)	0.27	0.26	0.10	0.34	0.33	0.13
V_{max}/V_{min}	1.32	1.26	0.19	1.36	1.34	0.22

Table 3: Lumpectomy cavity (LC) and Clinical target volume (CTV) variability

Abbreviations:

LC – Lumpectomy cavity, CTV – Clinical target volume, SD – standard deviation, CI_{common} – Conformity index among all observers, CI_{gen} – Generalized conformity index for all observers, COM shift – shift in the centre of mass of the volume, V_{max} – maximum volume among observers, V_{min} – minimum volume among observers

3.4 Results:

3.4.1 Cavity visualization:

Out of 20 patients, 4 (20%) patients had CVI = 1, 10 (50%) patients had CVI = 2 and 6 (30%) patients had CVI = 3. There were no patients with CVI = 0.

3.4.2 Contoured volumes:

Table 2 represents the pair wise comparison of CTV using Wilcoxon signedrank test along with the median difference in volumes for all observers. Significant difference was observed in the median volume of CTV between 8 pairs (out of total 10 pairs) of observers.

Summary of variability measures (CI, COM shift and V_{max}/V_{min}) for volumes (LC, CTV) are given in Table 3. Median volume, COM shift, CI_{common} and CI_{gen} for LC were 68 cm³, 0.26cm, 0.56 and 0.75, however the values for CTV were 146.6 cm³, 0.33cm, 0.58 and 0.78 respectively. The mean COV (±SD of mean) for LC was 0.11 (±0.06) however it was0.12 (±0.05) for CTV.

3.4.3 Cavity visualization index and volumes:

Table 4 summarizes the variability of LC and CTV and its relation to CVI. Significant decrease in COM shift of LC and CTV was observed with increase in CVI.Cases having fairy visible LC (CVI = 1) showed large median COM shift of 0.46cm for CTV and 0.41 cm for LC. Cases with excellent visualization of cavity (CVI = 3) had COM shift below 0.32 cm and 0.26 cm for CTV and LC respectively. Significant increase of CI_{common} and CI_{gen} for LC and CTV was found with increase in CVI. For CVI = 3, CI_{common} and CI_{gen} for CTV was 0.65 and 0.81, however for CVI =1 the respective values were 0.50 and 0.72. The mean (SD) of V_{max}/V_{min} was 1.32 (0.19) for LC and 1.36 (0.22) for CTV. Significant decrease in median of V_{max}/V_{min} of LC ($\rho < 0.029$) and CTV ($\rho < 0.008$) volumes was found with increase in CVI. The Bonferroni post hoc analysis revealed the significant variation ($\rho < 0.05$) in all variability parameters for group of CVI=1 and CVI=3, however all variability parameters for group of CVI=2 and CVI=3 was found insignificant. For group of CVI=1 and CVI=2, variation in C_{common}, C_{gen} of LC and V_{max}/V_{min} of CTV was found significant ($\rho < 0.05$). The mean relative SD of LC and CTV volumes were 10.9% and 11.7% respectively.

				ρ
CVI	1	2	3	value*
n	4	10	6	
COM shift of LC (cm)	0.41 (0.29 - 0.46)	0.26 (0.19 – 0.52)	0.18 (0.12 - 0.26)	0.004
COM shift of CTV (cm)	0.46 (0.37 -0.62)	0.35 (0.2 – 0.61)	0.26 (0.17 – 0.32)	0.019
CI _{common} LC	0.48 (0.33 - 0.49)	0.56 (0.40 - 0.66)	0.61 (0.53 - 0.65)	0.01
CI _{common} CTV	0.50 (0.39 -0.56)	0.59 (0.45 - 0.70)	0.65 (0.51 - 0.68)	0.02
CI _{gen} LC	0.69 (0.59 - 0.69)	0.75 (0.64 - 0.81)	0.78 (0.74 - 0.82)	0.004
CI _{gen} CTV	0.72 (0.65 - 0.75)	0.78 (0.69 - 0.83)	0.81 (0.73 - 0.83)	0.018
V_{max}/V_{min} (LC)	1.42 (1.36 - 1.75)	1.26 (1.10 - 1.73)	1.19 (1.07 - 1.29)	0.029
V_{max}/V_{min} (CTV)	1.57 (1.44 - 2.02)	1.29 (1.14 - 1.68)	1.20 (1.15 - 1.50)	0.008

Table 4: Cavity visualization index (CVI) and variability of LC and CTV volumes with median value and range

* One-Way ANOVA test

Abbreviations:

LC – Lumpectomy cavity,

CTV – Clinical target volume,

CI_{common} – Conformity index among all observers

CIgen-Generalized conformity index for all observers

 V_{max} – maximum volume among observers

 V_{min} – minimum volume among observers

3.5 Discussions:

Target delineation in 3D MIB for APBI is critical as it involves irradiation of partial breast volume alone which is at higher risk of tumor relapse if not treated adequately. Moreover, uncertainty in the whole treatment procedure is contributed by target volume delineation which is substantiated by geometric uncertainties in external beam radiotherapy but not so in brachytherapy. This uncertainty is taken care by PTV margins in external radiotherapy but in bracyhtherapy the concept of PTV is not used. Errors are less forgiving and more severe in brachytherapy as sources lie within the target region which if not defined precisely can lead to reversal of the therapeutic ratio. Variation in CTV volumes had an impact on implant dosimetry which resulted in different treatment volumes among the five observers in the current study. Literature search revealed many studies on inter-observer variations [68-72] however limited work has been published for MIB for APBI using open cavity surgery [101].

Quantification of visualization of cavity was developed and used in many published studies [69, 122]. The scale/score of cavity visualization in other published studies had 5 or 6 steps of scoring, mostly applicable for post operative cavities. The median time for CT imaging after lumpectomy and intra-operative catheter placement for our patients was 3 days; therefore cavity was always present in all of our cases. We have developed our own cavity visualization index (CVI) for the intra-operative brachytherapy technique practiced at our Institute. CVI which is used in the present work had 4 steps of scoring. The excellent visualization of cavity for our system has CVI = 3 in contrast to the other system [69, 122] where Score '5' represent the best visualization.

Present study demonstrated the correlation of CVI with variability of delineation, better visualization resulted in better concordance and decreased COM shift. For CTV median spatial concordance (CI_{gen}) was improved from 0.72 to 0.81 and median COM displacement of CTV was decreased from 0.46cm to 0.26 cm as the CVI increases from '1' to '3'.Similar findings were reported by Landis et al [68] for PTV, their values of CI_{pair} had improved from 0.57 to 0.87 and median COM were decreased from 0.69 cm to 0.15cm with increase in visualization score.

The only published study of inter-observer variation of APBI using mutlicatheter brachytherapy was by Major et al [101]. The observed spatial concordance (CI_{common} and CI_{gen}) of cavity in post implant CT using guidelines was 0.36 and 0.56, and the respective values of CTV were 0.54 and 0.70. Our data showed better concordance on post implant planning CT images with values of CI_{common}, CI_{gen} for cavity and CTV was 0.54, 0.74 and 0.58, 0.76 respectively. This could be due to the differences in the timing and technique of implant as well as imaging protocol of the two institutes. In the Budapest series, catheters were not implanted immediately after lumpectomy, pre-implant CT imaging was done in all cases and catheters were inserted with the help of a template. However, at our institute, the intra-operative placement of the catheters was done immediately after lumpectomy as a single procedure without any pre-planning imaging. Free hand technique was utilized due to direct visualization of the tumor bed.

Struikmans et al [72] had observed mean CI of 0.56 for boost CTV for external beam radiotherapy and they had concluded that each institute should determine their inter-observer variability with respect to target volume. Reported CI of seroma volume for three observers by Petersen et al [69] was 0.61. Similar to our observation they had reported significant correlation between seroma clarity and conformity of seroma volumes.

Mean Vmax/Vmin of LC and CTV in our study was 1.32 and 1.36 respectively. Major et al [101] have demonstrated that with contouring guidelines the mean Vmax/Vmin ratio of CTV was decreased from 2.2 to 1.2 for oncologists having experience in open cavity surgery; however it was 2.8 for observers without open cavity experience in absence of guidelines.

Recently GEC ESTRO breast cancer working group (II) has published recommendations for the target delineation for accelerated or boost partial breast irradiation [123]. Total safety margins 2 cm for CTV in all 6 directions was recommended. The safety margins include surgical resection margins around the tumour. It was also recommended to have safety margin for CTV of at least 0.5 cm whenever surgical margins are larger than 2 cm. However they were unclear whether recommended safety margin for CTV are sufficient to account for inter-observer and intra-observer contouring variation. At our centre we used 1 cm margin from the cavity for CTV in majority of the patients. This essentially is due to wider surgical margins as can be seen from the low margin positive rates reported earlier [36]. GEC ESTRO also recommended the method to determine the boundaries of lumpectomy cavity utilizing seroma and surgical clips. For present study the visualization of seroma, air in cavity and surgical clips were used to define the clarity of cavity for CVI index.

Another way of reducing the uncertainties is to have standardised institutional protocols for image acquisition and target volume delineation. Critical evaluation and review by peers and constant training help to reduce the interobserver variations further. The limitation of our work is that we have not investigated the role of other imaging modalities (Ultrasonography, Magnetic Resonance Imaging etc) in addition to CT for improvement in delineation of LC as we had carried out the study retrospectively. Major et al [101] have discussed and reviewed the role of other imaging modalities for delineating the tumor cavity wherein the authors conclude that there is a need of further investigation in this area.

3.6 Conclusion:

Significant inter-observer variation in delineation of LC and CTV was observed for intra-operative multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy. Inter-observer variability was found to be significantly related to CVI. Cases in which the visualization of LC was excellent, demonstrated the smaller variability in the delineation of LC and CTV.

* **Publication:** This chapter is reproduced from the following publication which is a research article arises from the present thesis.

Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Wadasadawala T, Misra S, Gurrum L, Pathak R, Dehspande DD. "Interobserver variations of target volume delineation and its impact on irradiated volume in accelerated partial breast irradiation with intraoperative interstitial breast implant." Journal of Contemporary Brachytherapy; 2017:9(2); 139-145.

Chapter 4

Dosimetric impact of inter-observer

variation in target volume delineation

4.1 Introduction:

Conformal radiotherapy requires accurate delineation of target volume and inter-observer variation in delineation is a potential source of error in radiotherapy [124]. APBI using MIB is established as an alternative to whole breast irradiation with excellent results for a selected subgroup of patients [30-39]. Three dimensional (3D) computed tomography (CT) based MIB allows conformal planning as it produces steep dose gradient beyond the target. Thus, inter-observer variation in target delineation is likely to have an impact on dosimetric and clinical outcomes. Studies evaluating dosimetric impact of inter-observer variability in target delineation have been conducted for APBI with external beam radiotherapy [70,125]. To the best of our knowledge, no published data exists on the dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in target delineation for intraoperative breast implants. We have quantified inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy cavity (LC) and clinical target volume (CTV) for intraoperative breast implants in last chapter [126]. The present study is carried out to investigate the impact of the inter-observer variation on dose volume indices (DVI's) for graphically optimized plans.

4.2 Materials and methods:

4.2.1 Patient Selection and Imaging:

Twenty patients of early stage breast cancer of APBI were retrospectively included for the study. The tumor bed was identified using 5 radio-opaque clips placed in the lumpectomy cavity intraoperatively as described in last chapter. Catheters were placed intraoperatively in the same sitting as the surgery. Planning CT scan was acquired on Somatom Emotion (Siemens Medical Systems, Erlangen, Germany) and images were transferred to Oncentra brachytherapy TPS (v 4.3, Elekta).

4.2.2 Delineation and treatment planning:

Five radiation oncologists who specialized in treatment of breast cancer contoured LC and CTV on axial CT scans using most appropriate and consistent window level and width setting and were blinded from reviewing contours of other observers [126]. Prior to delineation of contours, visualization index of LC was determined to standardize the delineation process. Clarity of the LC (which includes visualization of seroma, surgical clips and air in the cavity), distinction of cavity from the adjacent breast and muscle tissues was used to assess the cavity visualization which is discussed in the last chapter. The CTV included lumpectomy cavity with 1cm margin all around to ensure a minimum of 2 cm margin from the edge of the primary tumor [123,126,127,128]. CTV was subsequently cropped by 0.5 cm from skin anteriorly and up to the pectoralis muscle/facia posteriorly.

One hundred geometrically optimized treatment plans were made by a single planner for all CTV contours in each patient. Source step size was kept to 5 mm. Variations in active source positions in each catheter for all CTV's were analyzed to access the impact of target delineation variability on active dwell positions. Plans were than graphically optimized (local optimization) to get maximum coverage of CTV with prescription dose for each observer. The planning and treatment of intraoperative APBI is carried out during the immediate post-op period at our centre. Previous work showed that the average CTV volume of our patients is larger than most published APBI series [59,119]. It was also observed that underdose to the CTV in those patients having air in seroma cavity anteriorly and where it extends close to skin [59, 119]. Therefore, during treatment planning we aimed at achieving CTV coverage of $\geq 80\%$ and dose homogeneity index (DHI) ≥ 0.75 for our patients. The dose to ipsilateral breast were also limited [volume of ipsilateral breast receiving 150% (V₁₅₀) and 200% (V₂₀₀) of prescription dose ≤ 70 cm³ and 20 cm³ respectively] as per recommendations from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP) B39/ Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) protocol 0413 [129].

4.2.3 Analysis:

The inter-observer variation in LC and CTV delineation was investigated and reported in previous chapter [126]. Brachytherapy plans for all the observerswere comparedusing DVI's like coverage index (CI), external volume index (EI), overdose volume index (OI), conformal index (COIN) and plan quality index (PQI) [119,130–132]. Details of DVI's are described in Table 5 (a). Plans made for CTV of all observers were evaluated for CTV of every individual observer. Also plan made for CTV of an individual observer was evaluated for the CTV of rest of the observers. A total of 2500 evaluations were carried out for all 5 DVI's with 500 evaluations for each DVI's. For each patient, plans which were found to have reduction of \geq 5% and \geq 10% in CI compared to the planning objectives of CTV of any observer were reported. Relative SD (SD/mean) of CI and COIN was computed to estimate dosimetric uncertainty of inter-observer target delineations.

In addition, other dosimetric parameters were also computed which are described in Table 5 (b). The volume of prescription isodose (V_{100}) and total reference air karma (TRAK) was computed for all plans. The spatial concordance (conformity index, CI_{common}) of V_{100} was then computed for all observers (Table1 b).The indices for spatial concordance by Kouwenhoven et al [121] were proposed for comparing

target volume delineation made by several observers. However, for this study these were used to describe the variation in the size and shape of V_{100} generated for optimized plans among observers. The coverage of each CTV with common volume of prescription dose (V_{100_common}) was also computed among the observers for comparison. Pair-wise computation of CTV coverage was also carried out by calculating the mean coverage of CTVs over all 10 pairs among 5 observers with common prescription volume of respective pairs (V_{100_pair}) with respective CTV's (Table1 b).

For the initial plans which were geometrically optimized, the breast volume received prescription dose ($V_{100\%}$) and total reference air kerma (TRAK), spacial concordance (CI_{common}) of prescription dose $V_{100\%}$ was computed for all observers. Additionally for every patient the maximum/minimum values of prescription dose volume and TRAK was computed.

The impact of change in volume of CTV on various DVI'swas investigated by analyzing a plot between mean relative CTVs (RCV) of an observer and meanDVI's of all observer plans on the same CTV (Table 1b). Additionally, the mean % variation in CTV (Δ CTV) of each pair among 5 observers was estimated and compared with mean % variation in CI (Δ CI), OI (Δ OI), EI (Δ EI) and COIN (Δ COIN) of CTV for respective pair. The correlation between them was also estimated.

We also investigated the method to counteract the dosimetric variation due to CTV delineation. The prescription dose was increased (Plan_{Modified}) for the plans with poor dosimetric coverage for all CTV's to meet the planning objectives and their impact on DHI and COIN was reported.

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 20.0, IBM, Chicago) was used for analysis. Normality of distributions of DVI'swas tested with Shapiro–Wilk test. Comparison was done using Paired t–test when both samples had normal distribution and Wilcoxon signed-rank test for related samples was used when any sample among the pair deviated from normal distribution and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Pearson correlation was carried out between % variations in CTV volume with % variation of various dose volume indices.

4.3 Results:

4.3.1 Impact of inter-observer variation on source loading:

Table 6 summarizes the variation in the source dwell positions from the median source loading among 309 implanted (mean -15.6, SD - 3.3) tubes for all 20 patients due to target delineation variability. Majority of implanted tubes (64.2%) showed variations in the active source positions along the catheters although the delineation variability of CTV was in all dimensions. 18 (5.8%) catheters found to have no active dwell positions in any one observer's brachytherapy plans due to absence of target volume at peripheral locations of CTV in 10 cases. No changes in the source positions was observed in 29.8% catheters however another 29.8% and 17.5% tubes showed variation larger than 5 cm was observed in 9.3% catheters.

4.3.2 Impact on geometrically optimized plans:

Impact of interobserver variation on dosimetric parameters for plans with geometrical optimization is presented in Table 7. Median prescription dose volume $V_{100\%}$ was 134.2±43,7 cm³ (range 74.4 – 229.6 cm³). The mean observed Max/Min value of $V_{100\%}$ was 1.18 (range 1.03 to 1.56) however its variation with CVI was found insignificant. The mean Max/Min value of TRAK was 1.11 (range 1.03 to 1.35).

4.3.3. Impact of inter-observer variation on graphically optimized plans:

Figure 15 a) shows the axial image of representative patient having LC with clearly identified margins and figure 15 e) represents LC having indistinct margins. Figure 15 b), c) & d) demonstrate smaller inter-observer variation in delineation of LC, CTV and its impact on prescription isodose respectively. However figure 15 f), g) & h) shows larger variation in delineation of LC, CTV and prescription isodose respectively.

Table 8 a) summarizes maximum percentage variation in mean DVI's when plans made for CTV of all observers were evaluated for CTV of any individual observer. Maximum variation(ρ <0.05) of 6.3%,8.7%,7.4%,3.5% and 34.9% was observed in CI, COIN, OI, PQI and EI respectively when plans made for CTV of all observers were evaluated for CTV of any individual observer. Table 8 b) represents maximum percentage variation in DVI's when plans made for CTV of individual observer was evaluated for CTV of all observers. Maximum variation (ρ <0.05) of 10.6%,11.4%,10.6%,4.8% and 72.7% was observed in CI, COIN, OI, PQI and EI respectively when plans made for CTV of individual observer was evaluated for CTV of all observers.

 Table 5: Indices used for plan evaluation and comparison

	Indices	Definition	Formula
a) Dose volume indices [*]	Coverage Index (CI)	Fraction of the CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than the prescription dose	CTV ₁₀₀ / V _{CTV}
	Dose Homogeneity Index (DHI)	Fraction of breast tissues receiving a dose between 100% and 150% of the prescription dose	(V ₁₀₀ - V ₁₅₀) / V ₁₀₀
	External Volume Index (EI)	Ratio of volume of the normal breast tissue outside the CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than the prescription dose to the volume of CTV	(V ₁₀₀ - CTV ₁₀₀)/V _{CTV}
	Overdose volume Index (OI)	verdose volumeFraction of CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than two times of reference dose	
	Conformal Index (COIN) ^{\$}	Coverage of the CTV by the prescription dose and also the unwanted irradiation of normal tissue outside the CTV with prescription dose	(CTV ₁₀₀ / V _{CTV})* (CTV ₁₀₀ / V ₁₀₀)
-	Plan Quality Index (PQI) [#]	Quality Index) [#] Sum of CI, DHI and COIN	
	Spatial concordance of V _{100_common} (CI _{common})	Ratio of common volume and encompassing volume of V_{100} for plans of all observers	V_{100_common} / $V_{100_encompassing}$
b) Other dosimetric parameters	CTV coverage with V_{100_common}	Coverage of CTV with common volume of prescription isodose	V _{100_common} / V _{CTV}
	CTV coverage with V_{100_pair}	Coverage of CTV with paired volume of prescription isodose of respective pairs of observers	V_{100_pair} / V_{CTV}
	Relative CTV volume (RCV)	Mean CTV volume of any observer for all patients normalized with the smallest CTV volume among observers	Mean CTV volume / smallest mean CTV volume

Abbreviations:

V_{CTV} - Volume of CTV

 CTV_{100} - Volume of CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than the prescription dose,

CTV₂₀₀ - Volume of CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than two times of the prescription dose,

 V_{150} - Volume of normal breast receiving 1.5 times of prescription dose,

 V_{200} - Volume of normal breast receiving equal to or greater than two times of prescription dose

 V_{100_common} - Common volume of prescription dose among plans of all observers

 V_{100_pair} – common volume of prescription dose among plans of pairs

CI_{common} – Conformity index (spatial concordance) among all observers

CI_{pair} – Conformity index (spatial concordance) among pairs of observer

RCV – relative CTV volume

* Dose volume Indices - Meertens, H et al, Brachytherapy from radium to optimization. Nucletron International 1994;300-306.

^{\$} Conformal Index - Baltas D et al, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys1998;40:515–524.

[#] Plan Quality Index - Cholewka A et al, J Contemp Brachytherapy2013; 4: 227-231.

Variations in dwell positions	Variation in cm	No of catheters	% of total catheters
0	0	92	29.8
1	0.5	92	29.8
2	1.0	54	17.5
3	1.5	24	7.8
4	2.0	14	4.5
5	2.5	4	1.3
10	5.0	21	6.8
15	7.5	8	2.5

Table 6: Variations in active dwell positions due to target variability

Table 7: Impact of interobserver variation on dosimetric parameters for geometrically

	Min	Max	Median	Mean	SD
$V_{100\%}$ (cm ³)	74.4	229.6	134.2	135.1	43.7
$CI_{common} \ of \ V_{100\%}$	0.52	0.90	0.76	0.75	0.11
Max/Min of $V_{100\%}$	1.03	1.56	1.15	1.18	0.13
TRAK (cGy at 1m)	0.18	0.32	0.24	0.24	0.04
Max/Min of TRAK	1.03	1.35	1.09	1.11	0.07

optimized plans

Abbreviations:

 $V_{100\%}$ -Breast volume in cm³ receiving prescription dose

Max/Min – Ratio of maximum and minimum values among all observers

TRAK – Total reference air kerma in cGy at 1meter

Table 9 to Table 13 summarize the dosimetric impact of inter-observer variations on mean CI, COIN, OI, EI and PQI respectively in details for all 2500 evaluations. The mean \pm SD of CI and COIN ranged from 0.756 \pm 0.076 to 0.840 \pm 0.070 and 0.591 \pm 0.090 to 0.673 \pm 0.06 respectively. The mean \pm SD of OI and EI ranged from 0.065 \pm 0.010 to 0.074 \pm 0.011 and 0.140 \pm 0.084 to 0.369 \pm 0.210 respectively. The

highest PQI for the plans ranged from 2.22 to 2.26. The mean±SD DHI of plans of all observers was in the range of 0.749 ± 0.013 to 0.753 ± 0.018 . A decline of $\geq 5\%$ and $\geq 10\%$ in the CI of any CTV from planning objectives was observed in 42% and 14% plans respectively when plans were evaluated for CTV of all observers. The values of mean relative SD are summarized in Table 14. The maximum mean relative SD of CI and COIN was 5.7% and 7.1% respectively.

Impact of CTV variability on dosimetric parameters is summarized in Table 15. The observed mean±SD of V_{100} , V_{150} and V_{200} was 160.7 ± 52.1 cm³, 39.5 ± 12 cm³ and 13.8 ± 3.4 cm³ respectively. CI_{common} of V_{100} and TRAK was 0.70 ± 0.09 cGyand 0.27 ± 0.05 cGy respectively. The mean coverage of CTV with common volume of prescription dose (V_{100_common}) among observers was 73.1% (range, 54.4%-87.3%). However, the mean coverage of CTV with paired prescription dose volume (V_{100_pair}) among respective pairs of all observers was 77.9% (range, 63.1%-92.2%).

Figures 16 present the plot between mean relative CT volume among observers and mean DVI's. An increase in RCV resulted in reduction of CI, EI and OI. This however led to an improvement in COIN. Figure 17 a) to d) presents the plots between the mean % variations in the CTV volume (Δ CTV) of each pair among 5 observers and mean %variation in CI (Δ CI), OI (Δ OI), EI (Δ EI) and COIN (Δ COIN) of CTV for respective pair. The Δ CI, Δ OI, Δ EI and Δ PQI linearly negatively correlated with Δ CTV and this was statistically significant (ρ <0.05) correlation r = -0.957, -0.970, -0.971 and -0.753 for Δ CI, Δ OI, Δ EI and Δ PQI respectively. However, the mean % variation in COIN (Δ COIN) positively correlated with Δ CTV and this was also statistically significant (r=0.967, ρ <0.000).



Figure 15: a) Axial image of representative patient having lumpectomy cavity with clearly identified margins, b) Inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy

cavity among all observers, c) Inter-observer variation in delineation of clinical target volume among all observers, d) Impact of Inter-observer variation on prescription isodose, e)Axial image of representative patient having lumpectomy cavity with indistinct margins with adjacent tissues, f) Inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy cavity among all observers, g) Inter-observer variation in delineation of clinical target volume among all observers, h) Impact of Inter-observer variation on prescription isodose. (isodose shown are for graphically optimized plans)

Table 8: Maximum percentage variation in mean dose volume indices yielded from the analysis of 2500 evaluations for all 5 dose volume indices for graphically optimized plans

Table 4 a) Plans made for CTV of all observers evaluated for CTV of any individual observer						
	Coverage Index (CI)	Conformal Index (COIN)	External volume Index (EI)	Overdose volume Index (OI)	Plan Quality Index (PQI)	
CTV O1	1.2	8.2#	34.9#	4.2*	3.0*	
CTV O2	5.2*	6.4*	25.3 [#]	5.0*	3.3*	
CTV O3	6.3*	5.6#	29.2#	4.2*	2.8*	
CTV O4	6.1*	4.6*	29.5#	3.3*	3.1*	
CTV 05	4.9*	8.7#	26.5#	7.4*	3.5*	

	Table 4 b) Plans made for CTV of individual observer was evaluated for CTV of all observers						
	Coverage Index (CI)	Conformal Index (COIN)	External volume Index (EI)	Overdose volume Index (OI)	Plan Quality Index (PQI)		
Plan O1	10.6*	7.6#	67.0 [#]	10.6*	4.8*		
Plan O2	5.7*	9.2*	72.7#	5.1*	3.3*		
Plan O3	6.0*	11.4*	71.2#	7.1#	2.8*		
Plan O4	6.6*	$10.0^{\#}$	63.4#	6.5*	2.2*		
Plan O5	8.0*	8.2*	69.3 [#]	10.1*	3.5*		

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) is reported between couples from paired $t - test^*$ and wilcoxon signed-rank test[#] (t-test was carried out for sample having normal distribution and wilcoxon signed-rank test for related samples which deviates from normal distribution)

Abbreviations:

CTV 01, CTV 02, CTV 03, CTV 04 and CTV 05 – Clinical target volume delineated by Observer 1, Observer 2, Observer 3, Observer 4 and Observer 5

Plan O1, Plan O2, Plan O3, Plan O4 and Plan O5 – Optimized plan made on CTV of Observer 1, Observer 2, Observer 3, Observer 4 and Observer 5

Table 9:

Mean (SD) and median of coverage index (CI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

	Coverage Index (CI)						
	Plan O1	Plan O2	Plan O3	Plan O4	Plan O5	ρ	
CTV 01	0.839 (0.070) 0.833	0.833 (0.079) 0.832	0.840 (0.070) 0.836	0.835 (0.063) 0.834	0.830 (0.078) 0.823	-	
CTV O2	0.787 (0.078) 0.784	0.829 (0.071) 0.808	0.824 (0.073) 0.813	0.814 (0.060) 0.802	0.807 (0.080) 0.794	a, b, c, f, g,i	
CTV 03	0.756 (0.076) 0.757	0.790 (0.078) 0.779	0.805 (0.067) 0.792	0.781 (0.064) 0.774	0.783 (0.078) 0.790	a, b, c, d, e, h,i	
CTV O4	0.759 (0.071) 0.760	0.786 (0.073) 0.772	0.791 (0.070) 0.786	0.807(0.061) 0.791	0.775 (0.081) 0.768	a, b, c, f, h, I, j	
CTV 05	0.799 (0.079) 0.809	0.823 (0.071) 0.791	0.831 (0.068) 0.824	0.821 (0.066) 0.821	0.839 (0.064) 0.832	a, b, c, d, g, h,i	
ρ	k, l, m, n, o, p, s, t	l, m, o, p, s, t	l, m, o, p, s, t	k, l, m, o, r, s, t	k, l, m, o, p, q, s, t		

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) *is reported between couples from paired t– test;*

a – Plan O1 vs Plan O2, b –Plan O1 vsPlan O3, c–Plan O1 vsPlan O4, d –Plan O1 vsPlan O5, e –Plan O2 vsPlan O3, f –Plan O2 vsPlan O4, j –Plan O2 vsPlan O5, h –Plan O3 vsPlan O4, i–Plan O3 vsPlan O5, j –Plan O4 vs Plan O5

k- *CTV O1 vs CTV O2, l* - *CTV O1 vs CTV O3, m* - *CTV O1 vs CTV O4, n* - *CTV O1 vs CTV O5, o* - *CTV O2 vs CTV O3, p* - *CTV O2 vs CTV O4, q* - *CTV O2 vs CTV O5, r* - *CTV O3 vs CTV O4, s* - *CTV O3 vs CTV O5, t* - *CTV O4 vs CTV O5*
Table 10:

Mean (SD) and median of conformal index (COIN) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

	Conformal Index (COIN)					
	Plan O1	Plan O2	Plan O3	Plan O4	Plan O5	ρ
CTV 01	0.648(0.048)	0.609(0.080)	0.601(0.075)	0.598(0.080)	0.618(0.075)	a [#] , b [#] , c [#] , d [#] , i*, j*
	0.663	0.632	0.623	0.616	0.628	
CTV 02	0.630(0.059)	0.666(0.058)	0.637(0.055)	0.625(0.048)	0.644(0.063)	a*, e*, f*, g*
	0.627	0.678	0.634	0.629	0.631	
CTV 03	0.641(0.062)	0.668(0.078)	0.673(0.060)	0.636(0.059)	0.671(0.076)	$a^*, b^*, d^*, f^{\#}, h^{\#}, j^{\#}$
	0.648	0.666	0.665	0.659	0.674	
CTV 04	0.623(0.050)	0.636(0.052)	0.625(0.052)	0.653(0.041)	0.632(0.060)	c*, f*, h*, j
	0.632	0.634	0.627	0.650	0.640	
CTV 05	0.600(0.078)	0.610(0.093)	0.601(0.083)	0.591(0.090)	0.644(0.061)	$d^{\#}, f^{\#}, g^{\#}, i^{*}, j^{\#}$
	0.612	0.637	0.600	0.559	0.652	
ρ	k [#] , m [#] , n [#] , q*, r*, s*	k*, l*, p*, q [#] , r*, s [#]	k*, l*, o*, q [*] , r*, s	l [#] , m*, p*, q [#] , s [#] , t [#]	l*, o*, r*, s [*]	

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) is reported between couples from paired t– test*and wilcoxon signed-rank test[#];

a – Plan O1 vs Plan O2, b –Plan O1 vsPlan O3, c–Plan O1 vsPlan O4, d –Plan O1 vsPlan O5, e –Plan O2 vsPlan O3, f –Plan O2 vsPlan O4, i –Plan O2 vsPlan O5, h –Plan O3 vsPlan O4, i–Plan O3 vsPlan O5, j –Plan O4 vsPlan O5 k– CTV O1 vs CTV O2, l – CTV O1 vs CTV O3, m – CTV O1 vs CTV O4, n – CTV O1 vs CTV O5, o – CTV O2 vs CTV O3, p – CTV O2 vs CTV

04, q - CTV 02 vs CTV 05, r - CTV 03 vs CTV 04, s - CTV 03 vs CTV 05, t - CTV 04 vs CTV 05

Table 11:

Mean (SD) and median of overdose volume index (OI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

	Overdose volume Index (OI)						
	Plan O1	Plan O2	Plan O3	Plan O4	Plan O5	ρ	
CTV O1	0.072 (0.010)	0.071 (0.011)	0.072 (0.011)	0.069 (0.009)	0.072 (0.011)	c*, f*	
	0.072	0.070	0.071	0.068	0.073		
CTV O2	0.067 (0.010)	0.070 (0.009)	0.068 (0.008)	0.067 (0.008)	0.069 (0.009)	a*, e*, f*, h*	
	0.067	0.068	0.067	0.066	0.067		
CTV O3	0.065 (0.010)	0.067 (0.010)	0.068 (0.008)	0.065 (0.009)	0.067 (0.010)	a*, b*, d*, f*,	
	0.067	0.068	0.067	0.066	0.068	h*	
CTV O4	0.066 (0.010)	0.068 (0.010)	0.067 (0.009)	0.069 (0.009)	0.068 (0.010)	c*	
	0.068	0.067	0.068	0.069	0.069		
CTV 05	0.069 (0.010)	0.071 (0.010)	0.070(0.009)	0.069 (0.009)	0.074 (0.011)	d*, f*, h [#] , j [#]	
	0.070	0.071	0.073	0.071	0.076		
ρ	k*, l*, m*, o*, s*, t*	l*, m*, o*, p*, s*, t*	k*, l*, m [#] , s [#] , t [#]	k*, l*, o*, p*, r*, s*	k*, l*, m*, o*, q*, s*, t*		

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) is reported between couples from paired t– test*and wilcoxon signed-rank test[#];

a – Plan O1 vs Plan O2, b –Plan O1 vsPlan O3, c–Plan O1 vsPlan O4, d –Plan O1 vsPlan O5, e –Plan O2 vsPlan O3, f –Plan O2 vsPlan O4, g –Plan O2 vsPlan O5, h – Plan O3 vsPlan O4, i–Plan O3 vsPlan O5, j –Plan O4 vsPlan O5

k-CTV O1 vs CTV O2, l-CTV O1 vs CTV O3, m-CTV O1 vs CTV O4, n-CTV O1 vs CTV O5, o-CTV O2 vs CTV O3, p-CTV O2 vs CTV O4, q-CTV O2 vs CTV O5, r-CTV O3 vs CTV O4, s-CTV O3 vs CTV O5, t-CTV O4 vs CTV O5

Table 12:

Mean (SD) and median of external volume index (EI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

	External volume Index (EI)						
	Plan O1	Plan O2	Plan O3	Plan O4	Plan O5	ρ	
CTV 01	0.255 (0.114)	0.341 (0.209)	0.369 (0.210)	0.359 (0.217)	0.314 (0.183)	a [#] , b [#] , c*, d [#] , e [#] ,i [#]	
	0.221	0.264	0.281	0.298	0.238		
CTV O2	0.200 (0.081)	0.217 (0.095)	0.258 (0.107)	0.254 (0.123)	0.221 (0.123)	b [#] , c [#] , e [#] , f [#] , i [#] , j [#]	
	0.202	0.197	0.232	0.216	0.201		
CTV O3	0.140 (0.084)	0.160 (0.095)	0.173 (0.081)	0.188 (0.115)	0.154 (0.123)	b [#] , c [#] , f [#] , i [#] , j [#]	
	0.120	0.128	0.153	0.154	0.130		
CTV O4	0.170 (0.083)	0.200 (0.103)	0.228 (0.112)	0.193 (0.071)	0.195 (0.135)	b [#] , e [#] , i [#]	
	0.146	0.164	0.190	0.178	0.166		
CTV 05	0.281 (0.158)	0.326 (0.225)	0.351 (0.185)	0.356 (0.267)	0.272 (0.107)	b# ,c#, e#, i#, j#	
	0.266	0.294	0.294	0.339	0.258		
ρ	k*, l [#] , m [#] , o [#] , p [#] , q [#] , s [#] , t [#]	$k^{\#}, l^{\#}, m^{\#}, o^{*}, q^{\#}, s^{\#}, t^{\#}$	$k^{\#}, l^{\#}, m^{\#}, o^{\#}, q^{\#}, r^{\#}, s^{\#}, t^{\#}$	$k^{\#}, l^{\#}, m^{\#}, o^{\#}, p^{\#}, q^{\#}, s^{\#}, t^{\#}$	$k^{\#}, l^{\#}, m^{\#}, o^{\#}, q^{\#}, s^{\#}, t^{\#}$		

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) is reported between couples from paired t– test*and wilcoxon signed-rank test[#];

a – Plan O1 vs Plan O2, b – Plan O1 vsPlan O3, c–Plan O1 vsPlan O4, d – Plan O1 vsPlan O5, e – Plan O2 vsPlan O3, f – Plan O2 vsPlan O4, g – Plan O2 vsPlan O5, h –

Plan O3 vsPlan O4, i-Plan O3 vsPlan O5, j -Plan O4 vsPlan O5

k-CTV O1 vs CTV O2, l-CTV O1 vs CTV O3, m-CTV O1 vs CTV O4, n-CTV O1 vs CTV O5, o-CTV O2 vs CTV O3, p-CTV O2 vs CTV O4, q-CTV O2 vs CTV O5, r-CTV O3 vs CTV O4, s-CTV O3 vs CTV O5, t-CTV O4 vs CTV O5

Table 13:

Mean (SD) and median of plan quality index (PQI) resulted from analysis of 500 evaluations of CTV of 5 observers on 20 patients and 5 plans of each observer for graphically optimized plans

Plan Quality Index (PQI)						
	Plan O1	Plan O2	Plan O3	Plan O4	Plan O5	ρ
CTV 01	2.26 (0.10)	2.21 (0.12)	2.19 (0.11)	2.20 (0.10)	2.21 (0.12)	a*, b*, c [#] , d*, i*
	2.26	2.23	2.20	2.24	2.24	
CTV O2	2.19 (0.13)	2.26 (0.11)	2.21 (0.11)	2.20 (0.08)	2.22 (0.12)	a*, e*, f*, g*
	2.20	2.26	2.20	2.20	2.22	
CTV 03	2.17 (0.11)	2.23 (0.14)	2.23 (0.11)	2.18 (0.10)	2.22 (0.13)	a*, b*, d*, f*, h*
	2.19	2.21	2.20	2.19	2.26	
CTV O4	2.15 (0.11)	2.19 (0.11)	2.17 (0.11)	2.22 (0.09)	2.17 (0.12)	a*, c*, f*, h*, j*
	2.17	2.18	2.15	2.19	2.16	
CTV 05	2.17 (0.14)	2.20 (0.14)	2.18 (0.12)	2.17 (0.12)	2.25 (0.11)	d*, f*, g*, i*, j*
	2.17	2.22	2.20	2.19	2.26	
ρ	k*, l*, m*, n*, p*	k*, o*, p*, q*, r*	l*, p*, q*, r*, s*	r*, t*	m*, n*, p*, q*, r*, t*	

Statistical significance ($\rho < 0.05$) is reported between couples paired t– test*and wilcoxon signed-rank test[#];

a – Plan O1 vs Plan O2, b –Plan O1 vsPlan O3, c–Plan O1 vsPlan O4, d –Plan O1 vsPlan O5, e –Plan O2 vsPlan O3, f –Plan O2 vsPlan O4, g –Plan O2 vsPlan O5, h – Plan O3 vsPlan O4, i–Plan O3 vsPlan O5, j –Plan O4 vsPlan O5

k-CTV O1 vs CTV O2, l-CTV O1 vs CTV O3, m-CTV O1 vs CTV O4, n-CTV O1 vs CTV O5, o-CTV O2 vs CTV O3, p-CTV O2 vs CTV O4, q-CTV O2 vs CTV O5, r-CTV O3 vs CTV O4, s-CTV O3 vs CTV O5, t-CTV O4 vs CTV O5

Table 14 a) Plans made for CTV of all observers evaluated for CTV of any individual observer						
	Coverage Index (CI)	Conformal Index (COIN)				
CTV O1	1.8	5.1				
CTV 02	3.3	4.2				
CTV 03	3.6	4.6				
CTV 04	3.5	3.6				
CTV 05	2.9	5.4				
Table 14 b) Plans m	ade for CTV of individual o CTV of all observers	bserver was evaluated for				
	Coverage Index (CI)	Conformal Index (COIN)				
Plan O1	5.7	5.0				
Plan O2	4.1	7.1				
Plan O3	4.0	7.0				
Plan O4	4.0	6.9				

Table 14: Mean relative standard deviation (in %) for CI and COIN for optimized treatment plans

Abbreviations:

Plan O5

CTV 01, CTV 02, CTV 03, CTV 04 and CTV 05 – Clinical target volume delineated by Observer 1, Observer 2, Observer 3, Observer 4 and Observer 5 Plan 01, Plan 02, Plan 03, Plan 04 and Plan 05 – Optimized plan made on CTV of Observer 1, Observer 2, Observer 3, Observer 4 and Observer 5

5.7

4.9

	Min	Max	Median	Mean	SD
V ₁₀₀ (cm ³)	86.5	264.6	159.2	160.7	52.1
V ₁₅₀ (cm ³)	22.7	60.9	39.2	39.5	12.0
V ₂₀₀ (cm ³)	8.1	19.3	13.9	13.8	3.4
CI _{common} of V ₁₀₀	0.51	0.83	0.70	0.70	0.09
TRAK (cGy at 1m)	0.18	0.36	0.26	0.27	0.05
CTV coverage with	54.4	87.3	72.9	73.1	8.1
V _{100_common} (%)					
CTV coverage with	63.1	92.2	76.9	77.9	7.3
V _{100_pair} (%)					

Table 15: Impact of CTV variability on dosimetric parameters for graphically optimized plans

Abbreviations:

 V_{100} – Volume of breast in cm³ receiving prescription dose V_{150} - Volume of breast in cm³ receiving 150% of prescription dose V_{200} - Volume of breast in cm³ receiving 200% of prescription dose CI_{common} – Conformity index (spatial concordance) among all observers TRAK – Total reference air kerma in cGy at 1 meter V_{100_common} – Common volume of prescription dose among plans of all observers V_{100_pair} – Common volume of prescription dose among plans of pairs The mean±SD % increase in prescription dose to obtain adequate coverage due to inter-observer CTV variation was 8.8±6.1%. After increasing the prescription dose for Plan_{Modified} there was a significant decline (11.5%; ρ <0.05) in the mean±SD of dose homogeneity (DHI,0.665±0.7), whereas a significant (ρ <0.05) increase of 10.3%, 53.4% and 29.3% in mean V₁₀₀ (178.4±60.6cm³), V₁₅₀ (61.1±28.8cm³) and V₂₀₀ (17.9±5.8cm³) respectively. This also yielded an improvement in the mean COIN (1.8% to 3.7%) for all observers. Among all Plan_{Modified}, the increase in the V₁₅₀ and V₂₀₀ beyond recommended values of RTOG0413 was observed for only CTV's larger than 180 cm³.



Figure 16: Plot between mean relative CTV volume among observers and mean dose volume indices.



Figure 17: Plot between the mean % variation in the CTV volume of each pair among 5 observers with a) mean % variation in CI, b) mean % variation in OI, c) mean % variation in EI, d) mean % variation in COIN

4.4 Discussions:

Accuracy in target volume delineation is a crucial step in implementation of conformal radiotherapy [124]. In brachytherapy, there is no additional safety margin in the form of planning target volume. Moreover, as 3D conformal brachytherapy offers steep dose gradient around the CTV, the errors in target delineation will likely have an adverse impact on dosimetry and patient outcome. We have studied the inter-observer variation of target volume and demonstrated its impact on the variation of active dwell positions among plans of 5 different observers [126]. Out of 309 implanted catheters 23% showed a variation of more than 1 cm in the active dwell positions. Impact of inter-observer variation on the irradiated volume and TRAK

among all the observers for geometrically optimized plans was also reported. Literature search revealed limited studies on inter-observer variations of target volume delineation for partial breast brachytherapy and highlights the need for further evaluation [101, 126]. However, no work has been published on the dosimetric impact of such variations on dose volume parameters. This study is the first of its kind to report detailed dosimetric analysis of graphically optimized plans of all observers and the impact of the variation in the dose volume indices due to contouring heterogeneity.

Li XA et al [125] investigated the variability of target and organs at risk (OAR's) delineation for breast cancer radiotherapy for 9 observers on 3 patients planned for 3D conformal radiotherapy. They found substantial variability in target and OAR's delineation between the observers. Even though they observed no significant impact on dose coverage of PTV, the dosimetric variation in OAR's was substantial. Another study by Kosztyla R et al [70] reported the dosimetric consequences of seroma contour variability in APBI for external beam radiotherapy. They demonstrated median spatial concordance of 0.516 for seroma volume among three observers in 21 patients. However, they observed that planning margins provided adequate dose coverage of the seroma despite contouring variability of the PTV. In the last chapter we found the median concordance of 0.56 for the LC for MIB based APBI [126].

At our centre, for each patient, the placement of catheters was done at the time of the surgery after confirming the favorable report on frozen section evaluation of the primary and the lymph node. The lumpectomy surgery included the removal of the tumor with 1 cm margin, therefore 1 cm further margin beyond the cavity was considered safe for the CTV delineation [126]. GEC ESTRO breast cancer working group (II) had recommended the total safety margins of 2 cm for CTV in all six directions including surgical resection margins around the tumor for the cases of open cavity surgery [123]. We had reported better spatial concordance of CTV on post implant planning CT images for MIB when compared with the only published study by Major et al [101]. Delineation of cavity was easier due to presence of seroma during the immediate post op period after open cavity surgery [119]. Further improvement in the delineation process could be achieved by utilizing other imaging modalities [magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), utrasonography (USG) etc.] for patients having poor visualization on CT images [133-137]. Reduction in the inter-observer variation and improvement in consistency in target delineation was reported for breast cancer patients using MRI along with CT imaging [133-136]. Patients with poor clarity of seroma in CT images and dense breast parenchyma showed improvement in inter-observer delineation consistency with USG imaging [137].

Our work demonstrated a significant impact in DVI's for brachytherapy plans among all five observers due to inter-observer variation in CTV volumes. Larger variability in all DVI's were observed, when a plan made for the CTV of individual observer was evaluated for the CTV of rest of the observers. Inter-observer variability showed highest impact on external volume index (EI). This was due to the impact of contour variability for graphically optimized plans where prescription isodose was optimized interactively to improve coverage of CTV. A change in the CTV contours due to the inter-observer variations resulted in greater differences in the volume of normal breast outside the CTV receiving doses equal to or greater than prescription dose. The PQI used in the present work provides assessment of overall quality of treatment plans. As expected, the plans of each observer when evaluated for their own CTV had the highest PQI of ≥ 2.22 and comparable with previously published study [119].

This study showed that for increase of RCV among observers, there was a sharp relative decrease of EI compared to CI which was due to larger volume of CTV had relatively smaller volume of prescription dose outside CTV. Thus larger volume CTV had poorer CI but better COIN. Similar findings were observed for Δ CTV for each pair with significant correlation for variation in DVI's.

In our study we observed that even though an increase in the prescription dose caused a global expansion of the isodoses, it did not lead to unacceptable escalation of the V_{150} and V_{200} especially for patients with a CTV < 180cm³. The limitation of our work is that we did not investigate the feasibility of additional margins required to counteract the dosimetric variation due to uncertainties in CTV delineation. Tanderup et al [138] reported that for intracavitary brachytherapy it is possible to account for the PTV margins selectively in the longitudinal directions along the applicators to expand the dose distribution; however applying margins in the radial direction would cause dose escalation of target and OAR and therefore should be avoided. For interstitial breast brachytherapy, Resch et al [139] also demonstrated that imposing a lateral margin would escalate the dose in the central part of the target by 30 - 40% of mean central dose. Margins in the direction of the catheters are suggested by Das and Thomadsen for multi-catheter breast brachytherapy to account for the uncertainty due to shifts in the catheters with respect to target in the book by Wazer et al [140]. In our work we observed that the poor CTV coverage due to inter-observer variation in delineation may be compensated with the increase in prescription dose when the CTV volume $< 180 \text{ cm}^3$ at the cost of DHI.

In this study we observed a 19% and 12.5% increase of mean V_{100} and TRAK respectively for graphically optimized plans when compared to geometrically optimized plans. Geometrical optimization utilizes only the geometry of the implant during optimization to homogenize dose distribution; therefore the spatial concordance of V_{100} is expected to vary only as result of a difference in the active source positions among various plans. However, in graphical optimization, the isodose volume was spatially modified to improve the conformity of individual target volume of observers apart from the variation in active source positions. Thus we observed a reduction of 7% of spatial concordance (CI_{common}) of V₁₀₀ in graphical optimized plans when compared with geometrically optimized plans, which was due to the interobserver CTV variations.

The variability in target delineation resulted in variability of DVI's. Graphical optimization may have added some variability on dosimetric indices during the optimization process. To minimize this variability, plans were optimized by a single planner and also the dose homogeneity index was kept consistent (0.75) for all the plans. The limitation of the present study was that we did not investigated intra-observer variability during graphical optimization. Another limitation was that we did not investigate the dosimetric impact of inter-observer variability due to their proximity to the target. For our study skin doses was minimized by restricting the source positions within 0.5 cm of skin surface and further optimization. Every effort was made to also limit dose to the ribs.

4.5 Conclusion:

Inter-observer variation in delineation of CTV showed an impact on the source positions along catheters and statistically significant impact on the dose volume indices. Variations of <12% were observed for mean CI, OI and COIN. Inter-observer variation in delineation of CTV showed significant dosimetric impact with mean CTV coverage of 73.1% and 77.9% by common and paired prescription dose volume respectively among all observers. The prescription dose may be increased to counteract the decrease in dosimetric coverage at the cost of DHI for CTV <180cm³.

* **Publication:** This chapter is reproduced from the following publication which is a research article arises from the present thesis.

Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, Wadasadawala T, Misra S, Gurrum L, Pathak R, Deshpande DD. "Impact of inter-obse rver variations in target volume delineation on dose volume indices for accelerated partial breast irradiation with multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy". Radiotherapy and Oncology; 2018:129; 173-179.

Chapter 5

Change in target volume during the

course of brachytherapy treatment

5.1 Introduction

Treatment of breast cancer by APBI using MIB is established as an alternative treatment option to whole breast radiotherapy for selected patients [30-39]. After breast conservation surgery (BCS), when the surgery is performed with open cavity technique there is collection seroma in the surgical cavity [123,141,142]. Seroma cavity is known to show temporal changes during breast conserving therapy [143]. This may result in variation in the target volume during the course of treatment. In partial breast treatment using intraoperative, open cavity technique of MIB, the duration of brachytherapy treatment is generally 7-10 days, which also leads to accumulation of seroma and subsequent variation in volume [144]. Seroma formation after closed cavity technique is rarity [145].

In the recent years interfraction volumetric changes in target volume during the course of multilumen balloon brachytherapy (MLB) was reported for APBI [97-99]. Inter-fraction variation for the intraoperative breast implants utilizing radiograph based planning for APBI was investigated earlier at our institute [144], however only variations in catheter lengths during the course of treatment were reported. To our best knowledge, no published data is available for the inter-fraction changes of LC and CTV for intraoperative breast implants using open cavity technique for APBI and their subsequent impact on the dosimetric outcome.

We had transition from X-ray based brachytherapy to CT based planning for 3D partial breast brachytherapy in late 2005 [59] and have reported excellent local control rate and cosmesis with long term follow up [36]. The present study was carried out to quantify the interfraction changes in LC and CTV during the course of APBI and to quantify its impact on implant dosimetry using dose volume indices.

5.2 Materials and methods:

5.2.1 Patient Selection and Implant Technique:

Twenty two breast cancer parents treated with APBI using high dose rate (HDR) interstitial brachytherapy were selected for this study. Patients fulfilling the selection criteria for partial breast brachytherapy were considered for radical intraoperative implant. After the breast conserving surgery basic histopathological features were confirmed on the frozen section. The tumour bed was marked with radio-opaque clips placed at the borders and in the centre of the posterior wall of the lumpectomy cavity. Flexible nylon catheters were placed and guided through stainless steel needles using free hand insertion in multiple planes following Paris system.

5.2.2 Planning and Dosimetry:

Axial CT images were acquired (CT1) of the implanted region for each patient with 0.3 cm slice thickness on Somatom Emotion (Siemens Medical Systems, Germany) before start of the treatment. Images were exported to Oncentra v 4.3 brachytherapy treatment planning system (Elekta AB, Stockholm,Sweden).

The lumpectomy cavity (LC) was delineated on axial CT scans inclusive of the walls of cavity, seroma, air and radio-opaque clips. Clinical target volume (CTV) was drawn by uniform volume expansion with 1 cm around the LC. Aim of the CTV was to obtain 2 cm margin from the primary tumor. As the surgery included removal of the tumor with 1 cm margin, 1 cm further margin beyond the cavity was considered. However as the final histopathology was not available at the time of implantation, actual microscopic margins which were available after final histopathology report varied from 1 - 2 cm. CTV was edited form chest wall and 0.5 cm from the skin

surface. The air inside the lumpectomy cavity and ipsilateral breast was also delineated. Reconstruction of catheters was carried out in multi planar reconstructed images. Active source loading was obtained with a margin of 0.5 cm over CTV for each tube. The dose was normalized at basal dose points using Paris system. Initial plan was optimized geometrically on volume and prescribed on 85% of the mean basal dose. The plan was further optimized interactively using graphical optimization tool for optimum target coverage and dose homogeneity which yielded final plan P_{CT1} . While generating the optimal plan the recommendations of National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP) B39/ Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) protocol 0413 were followed to limit the doses to ipsilateral breast [129]. As per RTOG protocol the volume of ipsilateral breast receiving 1.5 times (V_{150}) and two times (V_{200}) of prescription dose was restricted to 70 cm³ and 20 cm³ respectively. The treatment was started on day 3 - 4 after placement of catheters. The duration of 3 - 4 days was considered optimal for healing of the surgical scar and postop edema to settle. A dose of 3.4 Gy per fraction was prescribed using HDR technique using Ir-192 source. Total 10 fractions with 2 fractions daily were delivered to all patients. The final histopathology report was made available before the 5th fraction to confirm the suitability for APBI.

The second CT scan was repeated on the last day of treatment. Median time from surgery to CT imaging for treatment planning (CT1) and prior to last fraction (CT2) was 2 days and 9 days respectively. Lumpectomy cavity, CTV and ipsilateral breast were contoured on the new CT dataset (CT2) by one of the co-authors for all cases. The delineation process may also have interobserver variation which was reported for partial breast brachytherapy with open cavity technique [101, 126]. To minimize the subjective uncertainty, delineation of all patients was carried out by a single radiation oncologist using most appropriate and consistent window level and width setting. The intraobserver variation in the delineation was estimated by repeated contouring of five randomly selected patients amongst the twenty two in the study, with a time interval of more than 2 months.

Figure 18 (a) and figure 18 (b) represents the change in volume of seroma filled LC between the first day and the last day of treatment. All the catheters were reconstructed again in the new CT images. The source activity, source loading pattern and dwell times of each source positions of the brachytherapy plan P_{CT1} was then manually translated to the reconstructed catheters of new CT dataset (CT2). This resulted in plan P_{CT2} Care was taken to avoid all possible manual errors in translating the dwell positions, dwell times of each positions and the source activity. The total treatment time was verified with the original plan.



Figure 18: Figure demonstrating the change in volume of seroma filled lumpectomy cavity during the first day (Figure 18 a) and the last day of treatment (Figure 18 b).

5.2.3 Plan evaluation and comparison:

Initial plan P_{CT1} , generated on CT1 and the other plan created on the CT2 data set (P_{CT2}) were evaluated and compared using dose volume indices (CI, DHI,EI,OI and COIN) which are described in Table 5 a) [130, 131]. The V90, V95, D90 and D95 of CTV volume were also quantified. V90 and V95 of CTV represents the percentage of the CTV volume receiving more than 90% and 95% of the prescribed dose and D90 and D95 are the minimum doses (in percentage of the prescribed dose) encompassing 90% and 95% of the CTV volume. The mean of absolute difference for all parameters was also computed. The correlation between change of air volume inside the lumpectomy cavity and change of LC and CTV volume was also evaluated.

5.2.4 Statistical analysis:

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 20.0, IBM, Chicago) was used for analysis. The normality of the data was checked using Shapiro-Wilk test. T-test was used for pared samples comparisons. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for those samples in which the data deviates from normal distribution. Spearman correlation was carried out between variation of air volume in LC with change in LC and CTV volume.

5.3 Results:

The mean±SD volume of lumpectomy cavity was 78.5 ± 40.7 cm³ (range 30.9 – 194.0 cm³) for P_{CT1} while it was 84.7 ± 50.1 cm³ (range 24.5 - 218.7 cm³, $\rho = 0.110$) for P_{CT2}. The same for the volume of CTV was 156.4 ± 69.0 cm³ (range 73.1 - 340.1 cm³) for P_{CT1} and 165.7 ± 82.8 cm³ (range 61.3 - 382.2 cm³ $\rho = 0.149$) for P_{CT2}. The mean (SD) of absolute pair wise differences in LC and CTV volume for all cases was

10.0 (11.4) cm³ and 21.4 (15.6) cm³ respectively which was > 11% and 13% of their respective mean absolute volumes. The mean \pm SD change in air volume inside the LC was 6.5 \pm 3.1 cm³ between P_{CT1} and P_{CT2}. Insignificant correlation between change of air volume in LC with change of LC volume (r = 0.36, ρ = 0.10) and CTV volumes (r = 0.132, ρ = 0.559) was observed.

Table 16: Change in volumes of Lumpectomy Cavity (LC) and Clinical Target Volume(CTV) between the first and last day of treatment.

	Number of patient, n			
Change in volume (%)	(%)			
	LC	CTV		
≥-10	2 (9.1)	5 (22.7)		
\geq -10, <0	7 (31.8)	2 (9.1)		
$\geq 0, < 10$	3 (13.6)	6 (27.3)		
\geq 10, < 20	7 (31.8)	7 (31.8)		
\geq 20, < 30	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)		
≥ 30	2 (9.1)	1 (4.5)		

Variations in the LC and CTV volume are shown in Table 16. The mean±SD intraobserver variation was found to be 4.8 ± 1.7 % for the delineation of LC and 4.3 ± 2.6 % for the CTV. Volume increase of over 10% was observed in 10 cases (45.5%) for LC, however it was found in 9 cases (40.9%) for CTV. Increases by >10 to \leq 20%, >20 to \leq 30%, and >30% were observed in 7, 1, and 2 cases respectively for LC, however for CTV the similar increase was seen in 7, 1 and 1 cases respectively.

Greatest increase in the LC and CTV volumes was 35.5 % and 34.4 % respectively. A volume decrease of 10% or more was observed in 2 (9.1%) and 5 (22.7%) cases for LC and CTV with maximum decrease of 20% and 17.6% respectively.

Dose volume indices of CTV for both the plan P_{CT1} and P_{CT2} are summarized in the Table 17 and Table 18. Mean absolute variations of CI and COIN for CTV are given in Table 19. The cases with increase in CTV volume, mean CI and COIN was decreased significantly (p \leq 0.05) by 8.4% (CI = 0.752, SD = 0.073) and 5.5% (COIN = 0.598, SD = 0.056) in plan P_{CT2}when compared to plan P_{CT1} (CI = 0.821, SD = 0.078) and (COIN = 0.633, SD = 0.060) respectively. The cases with shrinkage of CTV showed significant decrease (p=0.001) of 13.5% in COIN. The significant (p=0.004) decrease of 12.3% in EI was found in the cases with increase in CTV volume, however for the cases with decrease in CTV showed 45% (p= 0.003) increase in EI. Variations in other indices were found insignificant. Overall 22 cases showed significant decrease of 5.8% and 8.1% in mean CI and COIN. Pair wise comparison showed 3.5% and 12.1% difference in mean absolute DHI and OI in P_{CT2} for all 22 cases. Significant decrease ($\rho < 0.05$) of 4.1%, 5.1%, 6.7% and 6.4% was also observed in mean values of V90, V95, D90 and D95 of CTV respectively for all 22 cases. Variation of <1% in the mean (SD) volume of prescription dose (V_{100%}) in both the plans was observed, however found insignificant. Absolute variation of >5% in CI and COIN of CTV was found in 14 (63.6%) and 17 (77.3%) cases respectively.

n		CTV Volume (cm3)	CI CTV	DHI	OI	EI (cm ³)	COIN	V _{100%} (cm ³)
	Plan P _{CT1}	156.4 (69.0)	0.824 (0.073)	0.751 (0.042)	0.071 (0.018)	35.31 (8.58)	0.632 (0.052)	161.11 (51.80)
Overall	Plan P _{CT2}	165.7 (82.8)	0.776 (0.081)	0.737 (0.052)	0.071 (0.021)	37.26 (14.26)	0.581 (0.062)	160.93 (52.09)
n = 22	Pair wise absolute difference (%)	13.2 (6.7)	7.0 (4.5)	3.5 (2.5)	12.1 (7.5)	24.6 (20.5)	8.5 (6.2)	0.85 (0.73)
	p value	0.149 [#]	0.000*	0.031 [#]	0.113 [#]	0.428*	0.000*	0.625*
Inorana in	Plan P _{CT1}	163.5 (73.5)	0.821 (0.078)	0.757 (0.034)	0.071 (0.019)	35.73 (8.5)	0.633 (0.06)	166.51 (53.09)
CTV	Plan P _{CT2}	186.0 (87.5)	0.752 (0.073)	0.746 (0.042)	0.069 (0.019)	31.35 (8.8)	0.598 (0.056)	166.87 (53.5)
volume	Pair wise absolute difference (%)	13.0 (7.9)	8.3 (4.6)	3.1 (1.7)	10.8 (6.0)	15.2 (12.7)	6.1 (4.3)	0.79 (0.56)
II – 15	p value	0.001 [#]	0.000*	0.099 [#]	0.286*	0.004*	0.002*	0.440*
Decrease in	Plan P _{CT1}	141.1 (60.5)	0.831 (0.067)	0.739 (0.057)	0.072 (0.018)	34.42 (9.38)	0.629 (0.034)	149.53 (50.83)
CTV	Plan P _{CT2}	122.2 (53.6)	0.827 (0.079)	0.717 (0.069)	0.075 (0.033)	49.9 (15.99)	0.544 (0.062)	148.20 (50.41)
volume	Pair wise absolute difference (%)	13.3 (3.3)	4.3 (2.3)	4.3 (3.7)	16.9 (10.0)	44.4 (20.0)	12.7 (6.9)	1.0 (1.1)
11 = 7	p value	0.001*	0.793*	0.176 [#]	0.799 [#]	0.003*	0.001*	0.109*

Table 17: Mean (standard deviation) of CTV volume and dose volume indices $for plan P_{CT1}$ and P_{CT2}

* T-test for paired samples having normal distribution

Wilcoxon signed-rank test for related samples which deviates from normal distribution

Abbreviations:

- *LC Lumpectomy cavity,*
- CTV Clinical target volume,
- CI Coverage index,
- DHI Dose homogeneity index,
- OI Overdose volume index,
- EI External volume index,
- COIN Conformal index,
- $V_{100\%}$ Volume of normal breast receiving prescription dose
- *Plan* (P_{CT1}) *Optimal 3D plan on CT1 images acquired for treatment planning*,

Plan (P_{CT2}) – *Resulted treatment plan when plan* (P_{CT1}) *manually reproduced on the* 2^{nd} *CT data set* (*CT2*) *acquired prior to last fraction.*

^{\$} Dose volume Indices - Meertens, H et al, Brachytherapy from radium to optimization. Nucletron International 1994;300-306.

[^] Conformal Index - Baltas D et al, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys1998;40:515–524.

Table 18:

Dose Volume parameter	Plan P _{CT1}	Plan P _{CT2}	Pair wise absolute difference (%)	p value*
V90 (%)	88.3 (6.7)	84.2 (7.4)	5.5	0.000
V95 (%)	85.6 (7.1)	80.5 (7.7)	6.5	0.000
D90 (%)	86.8 (12.5)	80.1 (12.9)	9.4	0.001
D95 (%)	75.9 (13.5)	69.5 (13.8)	11.0	0.003

Dose volume parameters of CTV for plan P_{CT1} and P_{CT2} (mean, standard deviation)

* T-test for paired samples

Abbreviations:

V90 – % of the CTV volume receiving more than 90% of the prescription dose

V95 – % of the CTV volume receiving more than 95% of the prescription dose

D90 – Minimum dose (in % of the prescription dose) encompassing 90% of the CTV volume

D95 – Minimum dose (in % of the prescription dose) encompassing 90% of the CTV volume

Plan (P_{CT1}) – Optimal 3D plan on CT1 images acquired for treatment planning,

Plan (P_{CT2}) – *Resulted treatment plan when plan* (P_{CT1}) *manually reproduced on the* 2^{nd} CT data set (CT2) acquired prior to last fraction.

Table 19:

Mean absolute variation in Coverage Index (CI) and Conformal Index (COIN) of Clinical Target Volume (CTV)

Variation (%)	CI n (%)	COIN n (%)
> 0, ≤ 5	8 (36.4)	5 (22.7)
> 5, ≤ 10	9 (40.9)	11 (50)
> 10	5 (22.7)	6 (27.3)

Abbreviations:

LC – *Lumpectomy cavity*,

CTV – Clinical target volume,

CI – Coverage Index,

COIN – Conformal Index

5.4 Discussion

Multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy is one of the time-tested techniques of APBI with longest follow up [30 - 39]. APBI using intraoperative MIB was initiated at our institution in May 2000 [120]. Our centre is one of the few centres in the world which considers placement of catheters at the time of the surgery. This technique has great advantage of direct visualization of the tumour bed and placement of catheters which poses a problem when APBI is considered postoperatively. Also delineation of cavity on CT scan is superior due to presence of seroma which may not be the case in closed cavity technique or postoperative brachytherapy [123,126,145]. However this

requires excellent coordination between surgical team, radiation oncologist, pathologist and medical physicist. From patients' point of view this treatment has a great advantage as the entire surgery and radiation is completed in 10 days from the surgery. Many centres face constraints for using this technique due to unavailability of histopathology report in stipulated time. However in our centre all patients had frozen section evaluation of the primary and lymph node status before proceeding for placement of catheters. Placement of implant was done only after confirming the favourable report. In addition, final histopathology was made available before the 5th fraction which was generally given on 5 - 7th day after the surgery. The results of our technique have already been published [36,119,127]. For intraoperative multicatheter partial breast brachytherapy, changes in the lumpectomy cavity are likely to occur during the immediate post op period, which is a matter of concern and investigated in the present study.

Accumulation of seroma and its dosimetric impact during APBI using multilumen balloon brachytherapy (MLB) was investigated by Bhatt et al [97-99]. Serial aspirations of the vacuum port of the MLB catheter were performed at the time of initial CT simulation and then before each treatment fraction using Ir-192 HDR brachytherapy treatment which was delivered to a dose of 34Gy in 10 fractions over 5 consecutive treatment days. They had observed variable pattern of development in seroma accumulation with no discernible predictors of occurrence [97]. Impact of interfraction seroma collection on breast brachytherapy was investigated by Bhatt et al using mathematical model with symmetric expansions of 1.0 mm (0-9 mm) increments around the balloon surface to simulate "Virtual Seroma" (VS) accumulation and re-planning for two balloon volumes [98]. They had demonstrated that accumulation of seroma can significantly impact the PTV dosimetry. In another retrospective study, Bhatt et al investigated variation of PTV dosimetry as a factor of the seroma volume [99]. They had re-planned the cases with and without accounting for seroma and reported a considerable negative impact on PTV dosimetry resulting in 2.45% decrease in PTV coverage by 90% (V90) isodose line for every 1 cc of accumulated seroma. Their findings cannot be directly correlated with our results due to the difference in the APBI technique and also the methodology was not done in real time in patients during treatment. In the current study, we have observed 5.8% and 8.1% decrease in the mean coverage and conformity of the CTV respectively. Kuo H et al [100] acquired CT scan on every day (one simulation CT and five daily CT) for all 7 studied cases of multilumen balloon brachytherapy and observed < 1% variation in V90 and V95 of PTV volume. However they had maintained the seroma volume within 2% or 2 cm³ of the PTV volume by ensuring the conformance of balloon to the resection cavity using pretreatment aspiration.

Interfraction variation for intraoperative breast implants was earlier studied by repeating radiographs and CT scans on the alternate days for fourteen patients at our institute [144]. However the study was limited to documentation of the variations in the catheter length during the course of treatment. Out of 171 catheters studied in 14 patients, significant variation of more the 5 mm and 10 mm in catheter length were reported in 100 (58%) and 38 (22%) catheters respectively. However in the absence of CT based 3D brachytherapy the study was carried out using the conventional radiograph based planning where the variation in target volume during the treatment course was not investigated.

For the present study CT scan of all patients was re-acquired at last treatment fraction for investigating of maximum variations in the lumpectomy cavity and target volume. We had earlier investigated interobserver variability in the delineation for LC and CTV in the previous chapter [126]. Subjective uncertainties in structure delineation were kept minimal by assigning the segmentation work to a single radiation oncologist (co-author) and estimating intraobserver variation. Recently GEC ESTRO has recommended the total safety margins of 2 cm for CTV in all 6 directions including surgical resection margins around the tumour for the cases of open cavity surgery [123]. It was also recommended to have safety margin for CTV of at least 0.5 cm whenever surgical margins are larger than 2 cm [123]. In our centre the lumpectomy surgery included removal of the tumor with 1cm margin, therefore 1cm further margin beyond the cavity was considered safe for the CTV delineation. GEC ESTRO also recommends determination of the boundaries of lumpectomy cavity utilizing seroma and surgical clips. For the present study the visualization of seroma, air in cavity and surgical clips were used for the delineation of lumpectomy cavity.

The quantitative evaluation and the comparison of the implant dosimetry showed the significant decrease in the overall mean CI and COIN of CTV for 22 cases, however there was less than 1% absolute variation in the mean (SD) volume of prescription dose ($V_{100\%}$) in both the plans. The decrease in CI of CTV was found significant for the cases having increase in CTV volume. The observed variation in mean DHI could be due to minor changes in the inter catheter separation because of variations in the seroma filled LC volume or changes in patient posture while imaging or treatment. Care was taken to avoid any variation in the tube length inside the patient during entire course of treatment; also the patient posture was kept consistent

during CT imaging and all treatment fractions. However the variation in DHI in both group of patient with increasing and decreasing CTV was found insignificant. The limitation of the present work was that we did not investigate the minor changes in the inter-catheter separation which were non-specific and difficult to quantify.

Larger variations were observed in the pair wise estimation of mean absolute difference of EI in the present work which was found significant in both the groups consisting of increasing and decreasing volume of CTV. To maximize conformity in all cases, plan P_{CT1} was graphically optimized, therefore any small change in shape and size of CTV yielded greater variations in the volume of normal tissues beyond the target volume receiving dose larger than the prescription dose yielded larger absolute pair wise variation in EI.

Due to accumulation of seroma and air in cavity, we observed larger volume of CTV for intra-operative open cavity implant when compare with postoperative technique [59, 119]. The underdose in the anterior part of the CTV was accepted to avoid skin irradiation which contains only air in cavity. However it was previously reported that open cavity MIB having equivalent efficacy in the target coverage and homogeneity when compared to closed cavity technique [119].

Present study suggests to acquire a CT scan in the mid of treatment to assess the changes in the target volume. Adaptive treatment planning can be considered if the variation in the CTV volume is beyond the intra-observer variability of the target delineation.

5.5 Conclusion:

The change in the target volume during the course of APBI using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery was found patient specific and showed a significant impact on coverage and conformity.

* **Publication:** This chapter is reproduced from the following publication which is a research article arises from the present thesis.

Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, Misra S, Wadasadawala T, Kohle S, Dehspande DD. "Change of target volume and its dosimetric impact during the course of accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery". Brachytherapy: 2017; 16(5):1027-1034.

Chapter 6

Summary, conclusion and future

directions

6.1 Summary and Conclusion:

In this thesis the uncertainties for 3D conformal brachytherapy specific to multi-catheter interstitial breast implants was investigated. Following are the summary and conclusions of this thesis.

The reconstruction errors, which leads to the geometrical uncertainty was found to be larger when the implant and catheter orientation are near to parallel with imaging plane. As the slice thickness decreases and angle of implanted catheters with respect to imaging plane increases, there was reduction in the uncertainties. Smallest slice thickness had the least reconstruction uncertainty.

APBI using radical breast brachytherapy involves the irradiation limited to partial breast volume, which necessitates the accurate target delineation. As the volume around tumor bed is at higher risk of tumor relapse if treatment is not adequate. Present work in the thesis found a significant delineation variability in LC and CTV intra-operative multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy, which was significantly related to cavity visualization index (CVI). The relative standard deviation in target volume delineation for intra-operative MIB was found to be 11.7% (k=1). Patients having excellent visualization of lumpectomy cavity showed smaller delineation variability in CTV and lumpectomy cavity.

An inter-observer variation in the target delineation yielded the variations on the active dwell positions in catheters and therefore significant dosimetric impact was observed on dose volume indices. Graphically optimized conformal plans showed variations of up to 12 % in the mean dosimetric coverage and conformality of CTV. Delineation variability also yielded in the CTV coverage with 73.1% and 77.9% common and paired prescription dose volume respectively among all observers. The mean RSD of 5.7% and 7.1% (k=1) in the dosimetric coverage and conformality respectively was found due to inter-observer delineation variability.

The post-operative changes in the tumour bed after intra-operative placement of brachytherapy catheters are due to accumulation of seroma during breast conservation therapy. These temporal changes caused the patient specific variation in the CTV during APBI using multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy and yielded a significant reduction of 5.8% and 8.1% in mean CTV coverage and conformity.

6.2 Future directions:

The present work showed that geometrical uncertainties can be minimizes by reducing scan thickness and increasing the orientation angle of the implant from imaging plane. Reconstruction errors may lead to the variations in the implant dosimetry. A systematic study simulating systematic errors and their impact on the implant dosimetry could be a subject of future investigation. As the reconstruction errors in the breast brachytherapy implants are also influenced with the breathing motion of the patient, a study addressing the errors due to breathing motion could be a subject of the future work.

The work carried out in the present thesis showed that even though the delineation process is standardized, there is a need of further investigation for minimizing the delineation uncertainty in those patients who has poor visibility of lumpectomy cavity. Few investigators reported superior consistency in target delineation and improvement in delineation variability when MRI imaging are added with CT and patients with dense breast parenchyma showed better visualization with

USG imaging. Role of other imaging modalities could be a subject of research for the further improvements in delineation process.

It was demonstrated that although increase in the prescription dose may be used to compensate for delineation variability for smaller target volumes (<180cm³) at the cost of homogeneity for 3D conformal plans, however investigation of feasibility of additional margins to address dosimetric variation due to delineation variability could be a subject of investigation. Although margins in the radial directions of the catheters are not recommended in brachytherapy, margins along the catheters still can be applied.

The work in thesis demonstrated the patient specific variability in the target volume during APBI using multicatheter brachytherapy which was found to have significant impact on target coverage and conformality. Adaptive brachytherapy could be a subject of future research if the change in the target volume is larger than the intra-observer variability in target delineation.
References:

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide : Sources , methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136: 359–86.
- Asthana S, Chauhan S, Labani S. Breast and cervical cancer risk in India: An update. Indian J Public Health 2014;58:5-10.
- Fisher B, Anderson S, Redmond CK, et al. Re-analysis and results after 12 years of follow-up in a randomized clinical trial comparing total mastectomy with lumpectomy with or without irradiation in the treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1995;333(22):1456-61.
- Veronesi U, Salvadori B, Luin A, et al. Breast conservation is a safe method in patients with a small cancer of the breast. Long-term results of three randomized trial on 1973 patients. Eur J Cancer 1995;31(10):1574-9.
- Lehman M, Hickey B, The less than whole breast radiotherapy approach. The Breast 2010: 19, 180-187
- Van Dongen JA, Voogd AC, FentimanI S et al. Long-term results of a randomized trial comparing breast-conserving therapy with mastectomy: European organization for research and treatment of cancer 10801 trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000;92(14):1143-50.
- Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. New Engl J Med 2002;347(16):1233-41.

- Veronesi U, Cascinelli N, Mariani L, et al. Twenty- year follow-up of a randomized study comparing breast conserving surgery with radical mastectomy for early breast cancer. New Engl J Med 2002;347 (16):1227-32.
- Veronesi U, Marubini E, Mariani L, et al. Radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery in small breast carcinoma: long-term results of a randomized trial. Ann Oncol 2001, 12:997-1003.
- 10. Clarke M, Collins R, Darby S, et al: Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005, 366:2087-2106.
- 11. Vinh-Hung V, Verschraegen C: Breast-conserving surgery with or without radiotherapy: pooled-analysis for risks of ipsilateral breast tumor recurrence and mortality. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004, 96:115-121.
- 12. Fisher B, Dignam J, Wolmark N, et al. Lumpectomy and radiation therapy for the treatment of intraductal breast cancer: findings from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-17. J Clin Oncol 1998, 16:441-452.
- Whelan T, Levine M, Julian J, et al. The effects of radiotherapy on quality of life of women with breast cancer: results of a randomized trial. Ontario Clinical Oncology Group. Cancer 2000;85:2260-6.
- Schoen AT, Brenein DA, Kelly MD, et al. Impact of patient distance to radiation therapy on mastectomy use in early-stage breast cancer patients. J ClinOncol 2005;23(28):7074-80.
- 15. Nattinger AB, Gottlieb MS, Veum J, et al. Geographic variation in the use of breast-conserving treatment for breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1992, 326:1102-1107.

- 16. Fisher ER, Sass R, Fisher B, et al. Pathologic findings from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast Project (protocol 6).II. Relation of local breast recurrence to multicentricity. Cancer 1986;57:1717-24
- Liljegren G, Holmberg L, Bergh J, et al.10-Year results after sector resection with or without postoperative radiotherapy for Stage I breast cancer :a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2326-33.
- 18. Clark RM, Whelan T, Levine M, et al. Randomised clinical trial of breast irradiation following lumpectomy and axillary dissection for node-negative breast cancer :an update. Ontario Clinical Oncology Group. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996;88:1659-64.
- 19. Malmstrom P, Holmber L, Anderson H, et al. Breast conservation surgery, with and without radiotherapy, in women with lymph node-negative breast cancer: a randomized clinical trial in a population with access to public mammography screening. Eur JCancer 2003;39:1690-7.
- 20. Fisher B, Anderson S. Conservative surgery for the management of invasive and noninvasive carcinoma of the breast: NSABP trials. National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project. World J Surg 1994, 18:63-69.
- Faverly D, Holland R, Burgers. An original stereomicroscopic analysis of the mammary glandular tree. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1992, 421:115-119.
- 22. Imamura H, Haga S, Shimizu T, et al. Relationship between the morphological and biological characteristics of intraductal components accompanying invasive

ductal breast carcinoma and patient age. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2000, 62:177-184.

- 23. Vicini FA, Kestin LK, Goldstein NS. Defining the clinical target volume for patients with early-stage breast cancer treated with lumpectomy and accelerated partial breast irradiation: a pathologic analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;64(3):722-30.
- 24. Kahan Z, Csenki M, Varga Z, et al. The risk of early and late lung sequelae after conformal radiotherapy in breast cancer patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007, 68:673-681.
- 25. Kwa S L, Lebesque J V, Theuws J C, et al. Radiation pneumonitis as a function of mean lung dose: an analysis of pooled data of 540 patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998, 42:1-9.
- 26. Darby SC, McGale P, Taylor CW, Peto R. Long-term mortality from heart disease and lung cancer after radiotherapy for early breast cancer: prospective cohort study of about 300,000 women in US SEER cancer registries. Lancet Oncol 2005, 6:557-565.
- 27. Kirova YM, Gambotti L, De Rycke Y, et al. Risk of second malignancies after adjuvant radiotherapy for breast cancer: a large-scale, single-institution review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007, 68:359-363.
- Schaapveld M, Visser O, Louwman MJ, et al. Risk of new primary nonbreast cancers after breast cancer treatment: a Dutch population based study. J Clin Oncol 2008, 26:1239-1246.

- 29. Schaapveld M, Visser O, Louwman WJ, et al. The impact of adjuvant therapy on contralateral breast cancer risk and the prognostic significance of contralateral breast cancer: a population based study in the Netherlands. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2008, 110:189-197.
- Njeh CF, Saunders MW, Lnagton CM. Accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI): A review of available technique. Radiat Oncol 2010; 5:90
- Vicini FA, Arthur DW. Breast brachytherapy: North American experience. Semin Radiat Oncol 2005; 15: 108–15.
- 32. Kuske R, Winter K, W Douglas. et al., Phase II trial of brachytherapy alone after lumpectomy for select breast cancer: toxicity analysis of RTOG 95-17, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006; 65: 45–51.
- 33. Ott OJ, Hildebrandt G, Pötter R, et al. Accelerated partial breast irradiation with multi- catheter brachytherapy: local control, side effects and cosmetic outcome for 274 patients. Results of the German–Austrian multi-centre trial. Radiother Oncol 2007; 82: 281–6.
- 34. Yeo S, Kim J, Kwak G, et al. Accelerated partial breast irradiation using multicatheter brachytherapy for select early-stage breast cancer: local control and toxicity. Radiat Oncol 2010; 5:56
- 35. Polgar C, Major T, Fodor J, et al. Accelerated partial-breast irradiation using highdose-rate interstitial brachytherapy: 12-year update of a prospective clinical study. Radiother Oncol 2010;94: 274–289
- 36. Budrukkar A, Lavanya G, Upreti R, et al. Clinical outcomes of prospectively treated 140 women with early stage breast cancer using accelerated partial breast

irradiation with 3 dimensional computerized tomography based brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2015; 115: 349–354

- 37. White J, Winter K, Kuske RR, et al .Long-Term Cancer Outcomes From Study NRG Oncology/RTOG 9517: A Phase 2 Study of Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation With Multicatheter Brachytherapy After Lumpectomy for Early-Stage Breast Cancer.Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95:1460-5.
- 38. Strnad V, Ott OJ, Hildebrandt G, et al. 5-year results of accelerated partial breast irradiation using sole interstitial multicatheter brachytherapy versus whole-breast irradiation with boost after breast-conserving surgery for low-risk invasive and insitu carcinoma of the female breast: a randomised, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. The Lancet, 2016; 387: 229–238.
- 39. Polgár C, Ott OJ, Hildebrandt G, et al. (GEC-ESTRO).Late side-effects and cosmetic results of accelerated partial breast irradiation with interstitial brachytherapy versus whole-breast irradiation after breast-conserving surgery for low-risk invasive and in-situ carcinoma of the female breast: 5-year results of a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18 (2):259-268.
- 40. Arthur DW, Koo D, Zwicker RD, et al. Partial breast brachytherapy after lumpectomy: low-dose-rate and high-dose-rate experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003, 56:681-689.
- 41. Dickler A, Patel RR, Wazer D: Breast brachytherapy devices. Expert Rev Med Devices 2009, 6:325-333.

- 42. Edmundson GK, Vicini FA, Chen PY, et al. Dosimetric characteristics of the MammoSite RTS, a new breast brachytherapy applicator. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002, 52:1132-1139.
- 43. Wilder RB, Curcio LD, Khanijou RK, et al. A Contura catheter offers dosimetric advantages over a MammoSite catheter that increase the applicability of accelerated partial breast irradiation. Brachytherapy 2009, 8:373-378.
- 44. Dickler A, Ivanov O, Francescatti D. Intraoperative radiation therapy in the treatment of early-stage breast cancer utilizing xoft axxent electronic brachytherapy. World J Surg Oncol 2009, 7:24.
- 45. Scanderbeg DJ, Yashar C, Rice R, Pawlicki T: Clinical implementation of a new HDR brachytherapy device for partial breast irradiation. Radiother Oncol 2009, 90:36-42.
- 46. Beriwal S, Coon D, Kim H, et al. Multicatheter hybrid breast brachytherapy: a potential alternative for patients with inadequate skin distance. Brachytherapy 2008, 7:301-304.
- 47. Taghian AG, Kozak KR, Doppke KP, et al. Initial dosimetric experience using simple three-dimensional conformal external-beam accelerated partial-breast irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;64:1092-9.
- 48. Kozak KR, Doppke KP, Katz A, Taghian AG. Dosimetric comparison of two different three-dimensional conformal external beam accelerated partial breast irradiation techniques. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006, 65:340-346.

- 49. Kozak KR, Smith BL, Adams J, et al. Accelerated partial-breast irradiation using proton beams: initial clinical experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:691-8.
- 50. Vaidya JS, Tobias JS, Baum M, et al. Intraoperative radiotherapy for breast cancer. Lancet Oncol 2004, 5:165-173.
- 51. Kraus-Tiefenbacher U, Scheda A, Steil V, et al. Intraoperative radiotherapy (IORT) for breast cancer using the Intrabeam system. Tumori 2005, 91:339-345.
- 52. Beddar AS, Krishnan S. Intraoperative radiotherapy using a mobile electron LINAC: a retroperitoneal sarcoma case. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2005, 6:95-107.
- 53. Vicini FA, Kestin LL, Edmundson GK, et al. Dose volume analysis for quality assurance of interstitial brachytherapy for breast cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999; 45:803–810.
- 54. Das R K, Patel P, Shah H, et al. 3DCT-based high-dose-rate breast brachytherapy implants: Treatment planning and quality assurance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004; 59:1224–1228.
- 55. Cuttino LW, Todor D, Arthur W D. CT-guided multi-catheter insertion technique for partial breast brachytherapy: Reliable target coverage and dose homogeneity. Brachytherapy 2005; 4:10–17.
- 56. Major T, Frohlich G, Lovey K, et al. Dosimetric experience with accelerated partial breast irradiation using image-guided interstitial brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2009; 90: 48 55.

- 57. Kestin LL, Jaffray DA, Edmundson GK, et al. Improving the dosimetric coverage of interstitial high-dose-rate breast implants. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000; 46:35–43.
- 58. Major T, Fodor J, Taka'csi-Nagy Z, et al. Evaluation of HDR interstitial breast implants planned by conventional and optimized CT-based dosimetry systems with respect to dose homogeneity and conformality. Strahlenther Onkol 2005;181:89 - 96.
- 59. Sharma S.D., Budrukkar A., Upreti R.R., et al. Dosimetric comparison of conventional radiograph and three dimensional computed tomography based planning using dose volume indices for partial breast intraoperative implants. Clin Oncol 2008;20: 46-52.
- 60. Kirby AM, Coles CE, Yarnold JR. Target volume definition for external beam partial breast radiotherapy: clinical, pathological and technical studies informing current approaches. Radiother Oncol. 2010 Mar;94(3):255-63.
- 61. Cai G, Hu WG, Chen JY et al. Impact of residual and intrafractional errors on strategy of correction for image-guided accelerated partial breast irradiation. Radiat Oncol. 2010 Oct 26;5:96.
- 62. Yue NJ, Goyal S, Zhou J et al. Intrafractional target motions and uncertainties of treatment setup reference systems in accelerated partial breast irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Apr 1;79(5):1549-56.
- 63. Van Mourik A, Van Kranen S, Den Hollander S et al. Effects of setup errors and shape changes on breast radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011

- 64. Ahunbay EE, Robbins J, Christian R et al. Interfractional target variations for partial breast irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):1594-604.
- 65. Kirby AN, Jena R, Harris EJ et al. Tumour bed delineation for partial breast/breast boost radiotherapy: what is the optimal number of implanted markers? Radiother Oncol. 2013 Feb;106(2):231-5
- 66. Yue NJ, Goyal S, Kim LH et al. Patterns of intrafractional motion and uncertainties of treatment setup reference systems in accelerated partial breast irradiation for right- and left-sided breast cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2014 Jan-Feb;4(1):6-12.
- 67. Wang X, Zhang X, Li X et al. Accelerated partial-breast irradiation using intensity-modulated proton radiotherapy: do uncertainties outweigh potential benefits? Br J Radiol. 2013 Sep;86(1029).
- 68. Landis DM, Luo WL, Song J, et al. Variability among breast radiation oncologists in delineation of the postsurgical lumpectomy cavity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007; 67:1299-1308.
- 69. Petersen RP, Truong PT, Kader HA, et al. Target volume delineation for partial breast radiotherapy planning: clinical characteristics associated with low interobserver concordance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;69:41-48.
- 70. Kosztyla R, Olson R, Carolan H, et al. Evaluation of dosimetric consequences of seroma contour variability in accelerated partial breast irradiation using a constructed representative seroma contour. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;84:527-532.

- 71. Yang TJ, Tao R, Elkhuizen PHM, et al. Tumor bed delineation for external beam accelerated partial breast irradiation: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2013;108:181-189.
- 72. Struikmans H, Warlam-Rodenhuis C, Stam T, et al. Interobserver variability of clinical target volume delineation of glandular breast tissue and of boost volume in tangential breast irradiation. Radiother Oncol 2005;76:293-299.
- 73. Tanderup K, Nesvacil N, Pötter R, Kirisits C. Uncertainties in image guided adaptive cervix cancer brachytherapy: impact on planning and prescription. Radiother Oncol 2013;107:1–5.
- 74. Kiristis C, Rivard MJ, Baltas D, et al. Review of clinical brachytherapy uncertainties: analysis guidelines of GEC-ESTRO and the AAPM. Radiother Oncol. 2014 Jan;110(1):199-212.
- 75. DeWerd LA, Ibbott GS, Meigooni AS, et al. A dosimetric uncertainty analysis for photon-emitting brachytherapy sources: report of AAPM Task Group No. 138 and GEC-ESTRO. Med Phys 2011;38:782–801.
- 76. Giacomo P. News from the BIPM. Metrologia 1981;17:69-74.
- 77. JCGM100. Evaluation of measurement data-Guide to the expression of uncertainty in measurement, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), Joint Committee for Guides in Metrology (JCGM 100, 2008), corrected version 2010 http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/documents/jcgm/JCGM_100_2008_E.pdf 2008.

- 78. Taylor BN. KCE Guidelines for evaluating and expressing the uncertainty of NIST measurement results. In: NIST, ed., vol. Technical Note 1297: U.S.Government Printing Office, Washington (DC), 1994.
- 79. Thomadsen BR, Williamson JF, Rivard MJ, Meigooni AS. Anniversary paper: past and current issues, and trends in brachytherapy physics. Med Phys 2008;35:4708–23.
- 80. Rivard MJ, Venselaar JL, Beaulieu L. The evolution of brachytherapy treatment planning. Med Phys 2009;36:2136–53.
- 81. Beaulieu L, Carlsson Tedgren A, Carrier JF, et al. Report of the Task Group 186 on model-based dose calculation methods in brachytherapy beyond the TG- 43 formalism: current status and recommendations for clinical implementation. Med Phys 2013;39:6208–36.
- 82. Elfrink RJ, Kolkman-Deurloo IK, van Kleffens HJ, et al. Determination of the accuracy of implant reconstruction and dose delivery in brachytherapy in The Netherlands and Belgium. Radiotherapy and Oncology 59 (2001) 297-306.
- Tanderup K, Hellebust TP, Lang S, et al. Consequences of random and systematic reconstruction uncertainties in 3D image based brachytherapy in cervical cancer. Radiother Oncol 2008;89:156–63.
- 84. Petric P, Dimopoulos J, Kirisits C, et al. Inter- and intraobserver variation in HR-CTV contouring: intercomparison of transverse and paratransverse image orientation in 3D-MRI assisted cervix cancer brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2008;89:164–71.

- 85. Mikami M, Yoshida K, Takenaka T, et al. Daily computed tomography measurement of needle applicator displacement during high-dose-rate interstitial brachytherapy for previously untreated uterine cervical cancer. Brachytherapy 2011;10:318–24.
- 86. Lang S, Nesvacil N, Kirisits C, et al. Uncertainty analysis for 3D image-based cervix cancer brachytherapy by repetitive MR imaging: assessment of DVH variations between two HDR fractions within one applicator insertion and their clinical relevance. Radiother Oncol 2013;107:26–31.
- 87. Nesvacil N, Tanderup K, Hellebust TP, et al. A multicentre comparison of the dosimetric impact of inter- and intra-fractional anatomical variations in fractionated cervix cancer brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2013;107:20–5.
- Hellebust TP, Tanderup K, Lervag C, et al. Dosimetric impact of interobserver variability in MRI-based delineation for cervical cancer brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2013;107:13–9.
- 89. Waterman FM, Yue N, Corn BW, Dicker AP. Edema associated with I-125 or Pd-103 prostate brachytherapy and its impact on post-implant dosimetry: ananalysis based on serial CT acquisition. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;41:1069–77.
- 90. Hoskin PJ, Bownes PJ, Ostler P, et al. High dose rate afterloading brachytherapy for prostate cancer: catheter and gland movement between fractions. Radiother Oncol 2003;68:285–8.
- 91. Crook J, McLean M, Yeung I, et al. MRI-CT fusion to assess post brachytherapy prostate volume and the effects of prolonged edema on dosimetry following

transperineal interstitial permanent prostate brachytherapy. Brachytherapy 2004;3:55–60.

- 92. De Brabandere M, Kirisits C, Peeters R, et al. Accuracy of seed reconstruction in prostate post planning studied with a CT and MRI-compatible phantom. Radiother Oncol 2006;79:190–7.
- 93. Simnor T, Li S, Lowe G, et al. Justification for inter-fraction correction of catheter movement in fractionated high dose-rate brachytherapy treatment of prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol 2009;93:253–8.
- 94. De Brabandere M, Hoskin P, Haustermans K, et al. Prostate post-implant dosimetry: interobserver variability in seed localisation, contouring and fusion. Radiother Oncol 2012;104:192–8.
- 95. Kim Y, Johnson M, Trombetta MG, et al. Investigation of interfraction variations of MammoSite balloon applicator in high-dose-rate brachytherapy of partial breast irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;71:305–13.
- 96. Todor DA, Stojadinovic S, Cuttino LW, Arthur DW. Probabilistic analysis of the planning and delivery of partial breast irradiation with balloon brachytherapy: unsettling uncertainty. Brachytherapy 2008;7:139.
- 97. Bhatt AD, Crew JB, Bhatt G, et al. Interfraction accumulation of seroma during accelerated partial breast irradiation: preliminary results of a prospective study. Brachytherapy 2012; 11(5):374-9.
- 98. Bhatt A, Sowards K, Bhatt G, et al. Impact of interfraction seroma collection on breast brachytherapy dosimetry - a mathematical model. J Contemp Brachytherapy. 2012;4(2):101-5.

- 99. Bhatt AD, Barry PN, Sowards KT, Dragun AE. Negative effect of seroma on breast balloon brachytherapy dosimetry. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2014;4(1): 1–5
- 100. Kuo HC, Mehta KJ, Hong L et al. Day to day treatment variations of accelerated partial breast brachytherapy using a multi-lumen balloon. J Contemp Brachytherapy. 2014;6(1):68-75.
- 101. Major T, Gutierrez C, Guix B, et al. Interobserver variations of target volume delineation in multicatheter partial breast brachytherapy after open cavity surgery. Brachytherapy 2015; 14: 925-932.
- 102. Mazeron JJ. Brachytherapy: a new era. Radiother Oncol 2005;74:223–5.
- 103. Pötter R. Image-guided brachytherapy sets benchmarks in advanced radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2009;91:141–6
- 104. Haie-Meder C, Siebert FA, Pötter R. Image guided, adaptive, accelerated, high dose brachytherapy as model for advanced small volume radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2011 Sep;100(3):333-43.
- Recent developments and best practice in brachytherapy treatment planning.
 Lee CD. Br J Radiol. 2014 Sep;87(1041):20140146.
- 106. Dempsey C. Methodology for commissioning a brachytherapy treatment planning system in the era of 3D planning. Australas Phys Eng Sci Med (2010) 33:341–349
- 107. Williamson JF. Current brachytherapy quality assurance guidance: does it meet the challenges of emerging image-guided technologies? Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys 2008, 71 (1), S18–S22.

- 108. E Pantelis, P Papagiannis, G Anagnostopoulos et al. Evaluation of a TG-43 compliant analytical dosimetry model in clinical 192Ir HDR brachytherapy treatment planning and assessment of the significance of source position and catheter reconstruction uncertainties. Phys. Med. Biol. 49 (2004) 55–67
- Siebert FA, Kohr P, Kovács G. The design and testing of a solid phantom for the verification of a commercial 3D seed reconstruction algorithm. RadiotherOncol. 2005 Feb;74(2):169-75.
- Siebert FA, Brabandere MD, Kirisits C, et al Phantom investigations on CT seed imaging for interstitial brachytherapy. Radiotherapy and Oncology 85 (2007) 316–323.
- 111. Schmid M, Crook JM, Batchelar D, et al. A phantom study to assess accuracy of needle identification in real-time planning of ultrasound-guided high-dose-rate prostate implants. Brachytherapy. 2013;12(1):56-64
- 112. Milickovic N, Giannouli S, Baltas D, et al. Catheter auto reconstruction in computed tomography based brachytherapy treatment planning. Med Phys. 2000, 27(5):1047-57
- 113. Milickovic N, Baltas D, Giannouli S, et al A new algorithm for auto reconstruction of catheters in computed tomography based brachytherapy treatment planning. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2001, 48(3):372-83.
- 114. Hellebust TP, Tanderup K, Bergstrand ES et al. Reconstruction of a ring applicator using CT imaging: impact of the reconstruction method and applicator orientation. Phys Med Biol. 2007 21;52(16):4893-90

- 115. Hellebust TP, Kirisits C, Berger D, et al. Recommendations from Gynaecological (GYN) GEC-ESTRO Working Group:Considerations and pitfalls in commissioning and applicator reconstruction in 3D image-based treatment planning of cervix cancer brachytherapy. Radiotherapy and Oncology 96 (2010) 153–160
- 116. Hensley W, Harms W, Krempien R, Fritz P. Precision and dose conformation in the CT-based reconstruction of interstitial brachytherapy. Med Phys 2003:1431.
- 117. Tanderup K, Hellebust TP, Lang S, et al. Consequences of random and systematic reconstruction uncertainties in 3D image based brachytherapy in cervical cancer. Radiother Oncol 2008;89:156–63.
- 118. Hendrick RE. Radiation doses and cancer risks from breast imaging studies. Radiology. 2010;257(1):246-53
- 119. Gurram L, Wadasadawala T, Joshi K, et al. Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy for partial breast irradiation: an audit of implant quality based on dosimetric evaluation comparing intra-operative versus post-operative placement. J Contemp Brachytherapy 2016; 8: 116-121.
- 120. Budrukkar A, Sarin R, Jalali R, et al. Accelerated partial breast irradiation with interstitial brachytherapy as a sole modality of radiation for women with low risk early stage breast cancer. 2006 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings Part I. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(18S):1066.
- 121. Kouwenhoven E, Giezen M, Henk Struikmans H. Measuring the similarity of target volume delineations independent of the number of observers. Phys Med Biol 2009, 54:2863 – 2873.

- 122. Smitt MC, Birdwell RL, Goffinet DR. Breast electron boost planning: comparison of CT and US. Radiology 2001;219:203–6.
- 123. Major T, Gutierrez C, Guix B et al. Recommendation from GEC ESTRO breast cancer working group (II): Target definition and target delineation for accelerated or boost partial breast irradiation using multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after breast conserving open cavity surgery. Radiother Oncol 2016;118:199-204.
- 124. Vinod SK, Jameson MG, Min M, et al. Uncertainties in volume delineation in radiation oncology: A systematic review and recommendations for future studies. Radiother Oncol.2016;121 (2):169-179.
- 125. Li XA, Tai A, Arthur DW, et al. Variability of target and normal structure delineation for breast cancer radiotherapy: an RTOG Multi-Institutional and Multi observer Study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:944–51.
- 126. Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Wadasadawala T, et al. Interobserver variation of target volume delineation and its impact on irradiated volume in accelerated partial breast irradiation with intraoperative breast implant. J Contemp Brachytherapy, 2017; 9(2): 139-145.
- 127. Budrukkar A, Jagtap V, Kembhavi S, et al. Fat necrosis in women with early stage breast cancer treated with accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using interstitial brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2012;103:161–5.
- 128. Upreti RR, Budrukkar A, Upreti U, et al. Change of target volume and its dosimetric impact during the course of accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI)

using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery. Brachytherapy 2017; 16(5):1027-1034.

- 129. Vicini FA, White J. A randomized phase III study of conventional whole breast irradiation (WBI) vs partial breast irradiation (PBI) for women with stage I and II breast cancer. RTOG protocol 0413/NSABP B39.
- 130. Meertens, H, Borger. J, Steggerda M, et al.Evaluation and optimisation of interstitial brachytherapy dose distributions. In: Mould, R. F.; Battermann, J. J.; Martinez, A. A.; Speiser, B. L., eds. Brachytherapy from radium to optimization. Veenendaal, The Netherlands: Nucletron International 1994;300-306.
- 131. Baltas D, Kolotas C, Geramani K, et al .A conformal index (COIN) to evaluate implant quality and dose specification in brachytherapy. Int J RadiatOncolBiolPhys1998;40:515–524.
- 132. Cholewka A, Szlag M, Białas B, et al. The importance of the implant quality in
 APBI Gliwice experience. Dosimetric evaluation. J Contemp
 Brachytherapy2013; 4: 227-231.
- 133. Kirby A, Yarnolds JR, Evans PM, et al. Tumor bed delineation forpartial breast and breast boost radiotherapy planned in the prone position:what does MRI add to X-ray CT localization of titanium clipsplaced in the excision cavity wall? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys2009;74:1276 –1282.
- 134. Jacobson G, Zamba G, Betts V, et al. Image based treatment planning of the post-lumpectomy breast utilizing CT and 3TMRI. Int J Breast Cancer 2011;2011:246265

- 135. Jolicoeur M, Racine ML, Trop I, et al. Localization of the surgical bed using supine magnetic resonance and computed tomography scan fusion for planification of breast interstitial brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2011;100:480–4.
- 136. Al-Hammadi N, Caparrotti P, Divakar S, et al. MRI reduces variation of contouring for boost clinical target volume in breast cancer patients without surgical clips in the tumour bed. Radiol Oncol 2017; 51 (2): 160 – 168.
- 137. Berrang TS, Truong PT, Popescu C, et al. 3D ultrasound cancontribute to planning CT to define the target for partial breast radiotherapy.Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:375–383.
- 138. Tanderup K, Potter R, Lindegaard JC, et al. PTV margins should not be used to compensate for uncertainties in 3D image guided intracavitary brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol 2010;97:495–500.
- 139. Resch A, Pötter R, Van Limbergen E, et al. Long-term results (10 years) of intensive breast conserving therapy including a high-dose and large-volume interstitial brachytherapy boost (LDR/HDR) for T1/T2 breast cancer. Radiother Oncol 2002;63:47–58.
- 140. Das RK, Thomadsen BR. Physics of partial breast irradiation. In: Wazer DE,Arthur DW, Vicini FA, editors. Accelerated partial breast irradiation. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2009. p. 73–100.
- 141. Gonzalez EA, Saltzstein EC, Riedner CS, et al. Seroma formation following breast cancer surgery. *Breast J* 2003; 9: 385-388.

- 142. Woodworth PA, McBoyle MF, Helmer SD, et al. Seroma formation after breast cancer surgery: incidence and predicting factors. Am Surg 2000; 66: 444-450; discussion 450-441.
- 143. Prendergast B, Indelicato DJ, Grobmyer SR, et al. The dynamic tumor bed: volumetric changes in the lumpectomy cavity during breast-conserving therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009; 74: 695-701.
- 144. Narayanan SS, Goel V, Sarin R, et al. Intraoperative high-dose-rate ¹⁹²Ir radical implant in early breast cancer: a quality assurance and dosimetry study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;56:690–696.
- 145. Strnad V, Hannoun-Levi JM, Guinot JL et al. Recommendations from GEC ESTRO Breast Cancer Working Group (I): Target definition and target delineation for accelerated or boost Partial Breast Irradiation using multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after breast conserving closed cavity surgery. Radiother Oncol 2015; 115: 342-348.

Interobserver variations of target volume delineation and its impact on irradiated volume in accelerated partial breast irradiation with intraoperative interstitial breast implant

Ritu Raj Upreti, MSc, DipRP¹, Ashwini Budrukkar, MD², Tabassum Wadasadawala, MD³, Shagun Misra, MD², Lavanya Gurram, MD², Rima Pathak, MD², Deepak D. Deshpande, PhD¹

¹Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Hospital, Parel, Mumbai, ² Department of Radiation Oncology, Tata Memorial Hospital, Parel, Mumbai,³ Department of Radiation Oncology, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer, Kharghar, Navi Mumbai, India

Abstract

Purpose: To investigate the interobserver variations in delineation of lumpectomy cavity (LC) and clinical target volume (CTV), and its impact on irradiated volume in accelerated partial breast irradiation using intraoperative multicatheter brachytherapy.

Material and methods: Delineation of LC and CTV was done by five radiation oncologists on planning computed tomography (CT) scans of 20 patients with intraoperative interstitial breast implant. Cavity visualization index (CVI), four-point index ranging from (0 = poor) to (3 = excellent) was created and assigned by observers for each patient. In total, 200 contours for all observers and 100 treatment plans were evaluated. Spatial concordance (conformity index, $CI_{common'}$ and CI_{gen}), average shift in the center of mass (COM), and ratio of maximum and minimum volumes (V_{max}/V_{min}) of LC and CTV were quantified among all observers and statistically analyzed. Variation in active dwell positions (0.5 cm step) for each catheter, total reference air kerma (TRAK), volume enclosed by prescription isodose ($V_{100\%}$) among observers and its spatial concordance were analyzed.

Results: The mean ± SD CI_{common} of LC and CTV was 0.54 ± 0.09, and 0.58 ± 0.08, respectively. Conformity index tends to increase, shift in COM and V_{max}/V_{min} decrease significantly (p < 0.05), as CVI increased. Out of total 309 catheters, 29.8% catheters had no change, 29.8% and 17.5% catheters had variations of 1 and 2 dwell positions (0.5 cm and 1 cm), respectively. 9.3% catheters shown variations ≥ 10 dwell positions (5 cm). The mean ± SD CI_{common} of V_{100%} was 0.75 ± 0.11. The mean observed V_{max}/V_{min} of prescription isodose and TRAK was 1.18 (range, 1.03 to 1.56) and 1.11 (range, 1.03 to 1.35), respectively.

Conclusions: Interobserver variability in delineation of target volume was found to be significantly related to CVI. Smaller variability was observed with excellent visualization of LC. Interobserver variations showed dosimetric impact on irradiation of breast tissue volume with prescription dose.

> J Contemp Brachytherapy 2017; 9, 2: 139–145 DOI: https://doi.org/10.5114/jcb.2017.66027

Key words: APBI, breast cancer, cavity visualization, interobserver variation.

Purpose

Accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) for early stage breast cancer using multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB) has shown promising early results for selected subgroup of patients [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9]. The APBI technique offers overall reduction of treatment time to 1 week, compared to 3-6 weeks of standard whole breast radiation therapy due to the irradiation of confined target volume around the lumpectomy cavity (LC). Conventional dosimetry of MIB for APBI was carried out using a set of localization radiographs, which limited the three-dimensional (3D) definition of the target volume, thereby resulting in larger irradiated volume [10,11]. During the last decade, 3D image based brachytherapy has evolved, which provided clinically realistic dosimetric information on patient anatomy [10,11,12,13,14,15].

Active source positions in 3D brachytherapy are loaded in the vicinity of the 3D defined target volumes. Hence,

Address for correspondence: Ritu Raj Upreti, MSc, DipRP, Department of Medical Physics,Received: 18.10.2016Tata Memorial Hospital, Dr. Ernest Borges Marg, Parel, Mumbai, India 400012, phone: +91 22 24112427,Accepted: 09.01.2017fax: +91 22 24146747, ≤ e-mail: rituraaj123@yahoo.comPublished: 28.04.2017

Radiotherapy and Oncology 129 (2018) 173-179



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Radiotherapy and Oncology

journal homepage: www.thegreenjournal.com

Brachytherapy

Impact of inter-observer variations in target volume delineation on dose volume indices for accelerated partial breast irradiation with multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy



Ritu Raj Upreti ^{a,d,*}, Ashwini Budrukkar ^b, Udita Upreti ^a, Tabassum Wadasadawala ^c, Shagun Misra ^b, Lavanya Gurram ^b, Rima Pathak ^b, Deepak D. Deshpande ^{a,d}

^a Department of Medical Physics; ^b Department of Radiation Oncology, Tata Memorial Hospital; ^c Department of Radiation Oncology, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer; and ^d Homi Bhabha National Institute, Training School Complex, Mumbai, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 July 2017 Received in revised form 20 June 2018 Accepted 20 June 2018 Available online 6 July 2018

Keywords: Interobserver variation Multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy Dose volume indices Accelerated partial breast irradiation

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To investigate dosimetric impact of inter-observer variation in clinical target volume(CTV) delineation for patients undergoing interstitial partial breast brachytherapy.

Methods: Five radiation oncologists delineated CTV in twenty patients who underwent multi-catheter partial breast brachytherapy. Five treatment plans for each patient were graphically optimized for CTV of all observers and evaluated using coverage index(CI), external volume index(EI), overdose volume index(OI) and conformal index(COIN). In addition, volume enclosed by prescription isodose(V₁₀₀), its spatial concordance(CI_{common}), mean coverage of all CTVs with common volume of prescription dose (V_{100_common}) and mean CTV coverage for all pairs of observer with common prescription volume of respective pairs(V_{100_pair}) were also computed.

Results: The mean ± standard deviation(SD) of CI and COIN ranged from 0.756 ± 0.076 to 0.840 ± 0.070 and 0.591 ± 0.090 to 0.673 ± 0.06 respectively. When a plan made for CTV of individual observer was evaluated on CTV of all observers, the maximum variations($\rho < 0.05$) in the mean CI,COIN,OI and EI were 10.6%,11.4%,10.6% and 72.7% respectively. The observed mean ± SD of V₁₀₀, CI_{common} of V₁₀₀, CTV coverage with V_{100_common} and V_{100_pair} was 160.7 ± 52.1, 0.70 ± 0.09, 73.1 ± 8.1% and 77.9 ± 7.3% respectively. *Conclusion:* Inter-observer variation in delineation of CTV showed significant dosimetric impact with

mean CTV coverage of 73.1% and 77.9% by common and paired prescription dose volume respectively among all observers.

© 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. Radiotherapy and Oncology 129 (2018) 173-179

Conformal radiotherapy requires accurate delineation of target volume and inter-observer variation in delineation is a potential source of error in radiotherapy [1]. Accelerated partial breast irradiation(APBI) using multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy(MIB) is established as an alternative to whole breast irradiation with excellent results for a selected subgroup of patients [2–7]. Three dimensional(3D) computed tomography(CT) based MIB allows conformal planning as it produces steep dose gradient beyond the target. Thus, inter-observer variation in target delineation is likely to have an impact on dosimetric and clinical outcomes. Studies evaluating dosimetric impact of inter-observer variability in target delineation have been conducted for APBI with external beam radiotherapy [8,9]. To the best of our knowledge, no published data exist on the dosimetric impact of inter-observer

* Corresponding author at: Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Hospital, Dr. Ernest Borges Marg, Parel, Mumbai 400012, India.

E-mail address: upretir@tmc.gov.in (R.R. Upreti).

variation in target delineation for intraoperative breast implants. We have quantified inter-observer variation in delineation of lumpectomy cavity(LC) and clinical target volume(CTV) for intraoperative breast implants in our previous report [10]. The present study is carried out to investigate the impact of the inter-observer variation on dose volume indices(DVIs) for graphically optimized plans as an extension of our previous work.

Materials and methods

Patient selection and imaging

Twenty patients of early stage breast cancer satisfying the eligibility criteria for APBI (tumor size up to 3 cm, negative margins and pathologically negative axilla) were retrospectively included for the study.

The tumor bed was identified using 5 radio-opaque clips placed at the centre, superior, inferior, medial and lateral edges of the



BRACHYTHERAPY

Brachytherapy 16 (2017) 1028-1034

Physics

Change of target volume and its dosimetric impact during the course of accelerated partial breast irradiation using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery

Ritu Raj Upreti^{1,*}, Ashwini Budrukkar², Udita Upreti¹, Shagun Misra², Tabassum Wadasadawala³, Satish Kohle¹, Deepak D. Deshpande¹

¹Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Hospital, TMC, Parel, Mumbai, India

²Department of Radiation Oncology, Tata Memorial Hospital, TMC, Parel, Mumbai, India

³Department of Radiation Oncology, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research and Education in Cancer, TMC, Kharghar, Navi Mumbai, India

ABSTRACT

PURPOSE: To investigate the change of clinical target volume (CTV) and its dosimetric impact during the course of accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery.

METHODS AND MATERIALS: Twenty-two patients of APBI with intraoperative placement of catheters underwent computed tomography scans for the treatment planning before the first (CT1) and the last (CT2) treatment fraction. Delineation of lumpectomy cavity and CTV was done consistently on both CT data sets by one of the coauthors. Optimum plan (P_{CT1}) was made on CT1. P_{CT1} was manually reproduced in CT2 which yielded plan P_{CT2} . Plans were compared using coverage index (CI), dose homogeneity index (DHI), external volume index (EI), overdose volume index (OI) and conformal index (COIN).

RESULTS: The mean \pm SD volume of lumpectomy cavity and CTV was 78.5 \pm 40.7 cm³, 156.4 \pm 69.0 cm³ for P_{CT1}, and 84.7 \pm 50.1 cm³ (p = 0.11), 165.7 \pm 82.8 cm³ (p = 0.15) for P_{CT2}, respectively. CTV volume increase by \geq 10% was observed in 9 cases however decrease of \geq 10% was observed in 5 cases. Mean (SD) of absolute pairwise difference in CTV volume was found to be 13.2 (6.7) %. For cases with increase in CTV volume, significant (p < 0.05) decrease of 8.4%, 12.2%, and 5.5% was observed in CI, EI, and COIN of CTV respectively. However for cases with shrinkage of CTV, significant (p = 0.004) increase of 45% in EI was observed, whereas COIN reduced significantly (p = 0.001) by 13.5%. Overall 22 cases showed significant decrease of 5.8% and 8.1% in mean CI and COIN, respectively.

CONCLUSIONS: The change of CTV during the course of APBI using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy after open cavity surgery was found patient specific and showed a significant impact on coverage and conformity. © 2017 American Brachytherapy Society. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Interfraction target variation; Multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy; Dose volume indices; Accelerated partial breast irradiation

Received 1 March 2017; received in revised form 21 April 2017; accepted 5 May 2017.

Conflict of interest: The authors report no proprietary or commercial interest in any product mentioned or concept discussed in this article.

Presentation at a meeting: Part of the work is accepted for oral presentation at International Conference on Advances in Radiation Oncology (ICARO2, IAEA) in Vienna during 20–23 June 2017.

* Corresponding author. Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Hospital, Ernest Borges Marg, Parel, Mumbai, India 400012. Tel.: +91 22 24112427; fax: +91 22 24146747.

E-mail address: rituraaj123@yahoo.com (R.R. Upreti).

Introduction

Treatment of early-stage breast cancer in selected subgroup of patients by accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB) is established as an alternative treatment option to whole-breast irradiation (1-8). After breast conservation surgery, when the surgery is performed with open cavity technique, there is collection seroma in the surgical cavity (9-11). Seroma cavity is known to show temporal changes during breast conserving therapy (12). This may result in

1538-4721/\$ - see front matter © 2017 American Brachytherapy Society. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brachy.2017.05.004 **INTER OBSERVER VARIATION IN DELINEATING LUMPECTOMY CAVITY AND CTV FOR PATIENTS UNDERGOING APBI USING INTRA-OPERATIVE IMPLANTS AND ITS IMPACT ON IMPLANT DOSIMETRY** Ritu Raj Upreti^{a,*}, Ashwini Budrukkar^b, Tabassum Wadasadawala^b, Shagun Mishra^b, Lavanya Naidu^b, Rima Pathak^b, Deepak D. Deshpande^a

^a Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Centre, Mumbai 400012, India

^b Department of Radiation Oncology, Tata Memorial Centre, Mumbai 400012, India

* Corresponding author.

Introduction. 3D conformal brachytherapy utilized limited source positions in catheters and thus may impact dosimetry for inter observer variation in target delineation.

Purpose. To investigate the inter observer variations in lumpectomy cavity (LC) and clinical target volume (CTV) delineation and their dosimetric impact.

Material and methods. Delineation of LC and CTV was done by five radiation oncologists on 20 patients of interstitial breast implant. Cavity visualization index (CVI), four point scale ranging from (0-excellent) to (3-poor) was developed for open cavity technique and assigned for each patient. Total 200 contours for all five observers and 100 geometrical optimized plans were made.

Spatial concordance (CI), average shift in the center of mass (COM) and SD of structure volume were quantified among all observers and statistically analyzed. Variation in source dwell positions for each tube and volume encompassing prescription isodose (Vmax/Vmin) among observers was estimated.

Results. The mean ± SD CI of LC and CTV was 0.54 ± 0.08 and 0.58 ± 0.08 . Mean assigned CVI was 0.85 ± 0.81 . CI tends to decrease and shift in COM increase significantly (p < 0.05) as CVI increased. Out of total 309(15.7 ± 3.3) implanted catheters, 20% catheters had no change, 37% and 20% catheters having variations more than 3 and 5 dwell positions (5 mm step size) respectively. The mean Vmax/Vmin of prescription isodose was 1.18 (range 1.03–1.56).

Conclusion. Significant correlation of CVI was observed with CI and COM shift. Inter observer variations have shown the impact on the source positions along catheters and thus have dosimetric impact on irradiation of breast tissue with prescription isodose.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2016.07.572

IMPLEMENTATION IN CLINICAL USE OF A NEW PLAN VERIFICA-TION SOFTWARE FOR CONFORMATIONAL AND MODULATED TREATMENTS

A. Barateau, J. Mesgouez, D. Autret, M. Bremaud, C. Di Bartolo, S. Dufreneix^{*}, C. Legrand

Department of Medical Physics, Integrated Center for Oncology, Angers, France

* Corresponding author.

Introduction. Single point monitor units check is mandatory for all treatment plans in France. However, this check is not reliable for intensity modulated plans because of high dose gradients. A recently released solution called Mobius3D allows performing multiple treatment plan verifications.

Purpose. To evaluate this new software for 3D-conformational and intensity modulation treatment plans and to study the different metrics available for treatment plan verification.

Materials and methods. Single point dose calculations of 144 static fields selected by experimental design were compared to the TPS calculation (AAA, Eclipse, Varian). For intensity modulation plans, a DLG correction was determined by measurements in a cylindrical homogeneous phantom. Finally, several metrics were compared for 30 VMAT treatment plans.

Results. The mean difference between TPS and Mobius3D calculations for static fields is $-0.2 \pm 0.8\%$ with a maximum of -2.5% in homogeneous medium but differences up to 5.7\% were observed in the thoracic phantom. With a DLG correction set to -1.5 mm, the VMAT treatment plans had a mean gamma analysis inside the body of 96.2% but some went down to 66.4% due to regions located outside the fields. Results of the gamma analysis inside the PTV or the mean dose delivered to the PTV were more homogeneous.

Conclusion. A large tolerance level was applied in presence of heterogeneities for 3D-conformational. For intensity modulation treatment plans, the gamma analysis inside the PTV was considered reliable knowing that Mobius3D also provides gamma analysis for organs at risk.

Disclosure. No disclosure.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2016.07.573

DEVELOPMENT OF EXTERNAL DOSIMETRY AUDITS FOR ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY IN RADIOTHERAPY DOSE DELIVERY: AN IAEA COORDINATED RESEARCH PROJECT

J. Izewska^a, P. Wesolowska^a, W. Lechner^b, D. Georg^b, M. Tomsej^{c,e,*}, D. Followill^d, S. Kry^d, M. Tenhunen^e, J. Povall^f, D. Thwaites^g

^a International Atomic Energy Agency, Division of Human Health, Vienna, Austria

^bAKH, Vienna, Austria

^c CHU Charleroi A. Vésale, Charleroi, Belgium

^d IROC Houstonn QA Center, U.T. MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, USA

- ^e University Hospital Helsinki, Finland
- ^fSt James' Institute of Oncology, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK
- ^g University of Sydney, Australia
- * Corresponding author.

Introduction and purpose. An IAEA co-ordinated research project (CRP) is under implementation that develops methodology for remote dosimetry audits of IMRT techniques to be offered to radio-therapy centres by national audit networks in low and middle income countries.

Materials and methods. The CRP involves four audit steps: (i) remote verification of TPS calculation of small beam output factors relevant to IMRT (ii) dosimetry audit of MLC positional performance for IMRT using radiochromic film, (iii) film audit of single clinical IMRT field dose delivery and (iv) 'end-to-end' dosimetry audit for multiple field IMRT techniques using TLDs and radiochromic films. New procedures, phantoms, instructions and data sheets for audited centres were developed at the IAEA and tested through multinational pilot studies. Research groups from 14 countries participate in the CRP.

Results. The results of the first CRP step show agreement within 1% of participants' TPS output factors and the reference data for field sizes $\ge 4 \times 4 \text{ cm}^2$ but dose overestimation by TPSs by 2–3% for field sizes $\le 3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$. The second step confirmed that most audited MLCs perform as expected. The results of the third CRP step show that TPS plans prepared by participants and delivered to films agree

Session 24b - Brachytherapy / 245

Interfraction variation in the target volume for accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI) using intraoperative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy and its dosimetric impact

Author(s): UPRETI, Ritu Raj¹

Co-author(s): BUDRUKKAR, Ashwini ²; UPRETI, Udita ²; WADASADAWALA, Tabassum ²; MISRA, Shagun ²; DESHAPNDE, Deepak D ²

¹ Department of Medical Physics, Tata Memorial Centre, Mumbai, India

² Department of Radiation Oncology, Tata Memorial Centre, Mumbai, India

Corresponding Author(s): rituraaj123@yahoo.com

Introduction of the study: Multi-catheter interstitial brachytherapy (MIB) is the oldest technique with longest follow-up for Accelerated Partial Breast Irradiation. Intra operative multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy requires duration of implant in situ is generally 7-10 days which may lead to post operative changes such as seroma formation and regression. This may result in variation in the lumpectomy cavity (LC) and the planning target volume (PTV) during the course of treatment. The present work aimed to investigate the dosimetric impact of interfraction variation in the target volume during accelerated partial breast irradiation for intra-operative breast implants.

Methodology: Intraoperative placement of flexible catheters was performed on sixteen patients who underwent computed tomography (CT1) based brachytherapy planning. The lumpectomy cavity was delineated on CT1 which included seroma, radio-opaque clips, and air in the cavity. Clinical target volume (CTV) was obtained by growing a uniform margin of 1 cm around the cavity. CTV was edited by limiting the skin by 0.5 cm and up to the chest wall. For brachytherapy CTV was considered as planning target volume (PTV). Catheter reconstruction was done on CT1 and active dwell positions of each catheter were obtained by giving a margin of 0.5 cm over CTV. Graphical optimization was done to yield optimum plan PCT1 for the treatment. CT was repeated prior to the last treatment fraction (CT2). Contouring of LC, CTV and catheter reconstruction were carried out on CT2. PCT1 was manually reproduced in CT2 which yielded plan PCT2. Plans were compared using coverage index (CI), dose homogeneity index (DHI), external volume index (EI), overdose volume index (OI) and conformal index (COIN). CI is the fraction of the LC or CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than the prescription dose. El is the ratio of the normal tissue volume outside the CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than the prescription dose to the CTV. DHI is the fraction of breast tissues receiving a dose between 100% and 150% of the reference dose. OI is the fraction of the CTV receiving a dose equal to or greater than two times the reference dose. The COIN takes into consideration the coverage of the CTV by the prescription dose and also the unwanted irradiation of normal tissue outside the CTV. The data was compared and statistically analyzed by T-test for paired samples using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 20.0, IBM, Chicago) software. Results: The mean volume of LC and PTV was 68.02 27.95 cm3 and 138.84 46.93 cm3 for PCT1 while it was 74.88 31.33+ cm3 and 146.56 55.88 cm3 for PCT2. Mean CI of LC and PTV decreased significantly by 3.74% (r=0.024) and 8.64% (r=0.001) in PCT2. 11.8% and 10% increase in the mean EI and OI was observed in PCT2. Variation in the mean DHI was small and insignificant for both plans. Significant decrease (p=0.001) in mean COIN value was observed in plan PCT2 (0.538) compared to PCT1 (0.602).

Conclusion: The interfraction variation in the LC and CTV volume was found patient specific. Interfraction variation in the CTV volume has shown the significant impact on coverage and conformity of the target volume.